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Monday, January 29, 2007


--- Upon commencing at 9:31 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


The Board is sitting today in connection with an application filed on August 25th, 2006 by Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. with respect to an application under section 36 of the Ontario Energy Board Act requesting a rate increase effective January 1st, 2007.


The Board has held a number of hearings dealing with procedural matters and sits today to start hearing the evidence in this case.


May we have the appearances, please.


APPEARANCES:

MR. CASS:  Yes, Mr. Chair.  Fred Cass for Enbridge Gas Distribution, and with me again this morning are David Stevens and Dennis O'Leary.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass.


MR. WARREN:  Robert Warren for the Consumers Council of Canada, and I am asked by Mr. DeRose to enter an appearance on his behalf.  He is late.  The plane is late getting out of Ottawa, but he will be here shortly.


MR. KAISER:  Thanks, Mr. Warren.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Murray Klippenstein for Pollution Probe.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, School Energy Coalition.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  John DeVellis for HVAC.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. DeVellis.


MR. POCH:  David Poch for Green Energy Coalition.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Poch.


MR. HOAKEN:  Eric Hoaken for Direct Energy.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MS. YOUNG:  Valerie Young, Ontario Association of Physical Plant Administrators.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. ADAMS:  Tom Adams and David MacIntosh on behalf of Energy Probe.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Adams.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Michael Buonaguro, counsel for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Buonaguro.


MR. ROSS:  Murray Ross, TransCanada Pipelines.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MS. RUZYCKI:  Nola Ruzycki, Ontario Energy Savings, LP.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MS. SIMS:  Margaret Sims For CustomerWorks Limited Partnership.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  Michael Millar on behalf of Board Staff.  With me are Mr. Richard Battista and Mr. Colin Schuch.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  How do you want to proceed?


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair as you are aware, a settlement proposal has been filed by the parties.  I understand that Mr. Cass will be taking the lead on, I understand, walking the Panel through at least a high level view of the settlement proposal, so I will pass it over to him.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass.



OPENING STATEMENT BY MR. CASS:

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Mr. Chair, in preparing for this morning, I found it a challenge to present an overview of the settlement proposal that would not become unduly lengthy.


What I will attempt to do is to keep it as high level as possible, but to the extent that it is becoming longer than the Board feels necessary, perhaps you might just move me along, or if you get to a point where it is better just to -- for the Board to put its questions rather than me continuing, perhaps you might just let me know.  


Again, I find it a bit of a challenge to present an overview of this settlement proposal in a matter of just a few minutes.


I think the place that I would like to ask the Board to start is page 8 of the settlement proposal.


At page 8, there is a chart that summarizes the status of the 47 issues set out on the issues list.  As the Board can see for itself from this chart, it describes those issues that are completely settled, those that are the subject of an incomplete settlement in that at least some aspects of the particular issues need to be addressed at the hearing, and those issues in respect of which there has been no settlement.


Now, as well, the Board will have seen from this settlement proposal that there is a package settlement, and the description of that begins at the bottom of page 9.  


I think it is important for me to emphasize that package settlement and complete settlement are not the same categories under this settlement proposal.


There are a number of items in the package settlement that are completely settled.  However, there are additional items that are completely settled that are not part of the package.  As well, with respect to two of the items in the package, there are some issues that will be pursued at the hearing.  As I go through the issues, I think this will become more clear to the Board.  


I did just want to make clear that complete settlement and package settlement are not exactly the same categories.


Another point that I wanted to bring out to the Board, before turning to the specific issues, is that there are the consultative processes that the Board is aware of.  These are referred to at page 10 of the document, and several of those are continuing.  


The parties, I believe, will continue to use their best efforts to further those discussions as the hearing proceeds.  I believe that those that are not yet completed include customer care and CIS consultation, the open bill consultation, and, as well, I believe that discussions have not completely come to an end on the consultative process dealing with corporate cost allocations.


To the extent that there is further settlement or narrowing of issues as a result of any or all of those consultatives, then the parties would advise the Board as quickly as possible and file such further supplement to the settlement agreement or settlement proposal as would be appropriate.


So with that introduction, what I would propose to do is start by touching on what are the elements of the package settlement that is described in the settlement proposal.


The first element of the package is discussed at page 13 of the document.  As the Board will see, there is a complete settlement of all rate base issues, including the 2007 capital budget.  This does not include the CIS issue that, as I have already said, is still the subject of a consultative, but the Board will see, from page 13, that the new CIS system is not expected to have rate base impact in 2007.


As well, the Board will have seen from page 13 that notwithstanding the overall settlement on rate base matters, that capital spending on the Energy Link program is not settled, in the sense that there could arise an issue of allocation of this spending, but not an issue that affects total spending.


Included in the package settlement of the issues under main issue 1 is a resolution of issue 1.4, which addresses how leave‑to‑construct projects should be treated insofar as capital budgeting is concerned.  That is an element of the package.


As well, there has been a settlement of the EnVision issues.  This is described under issues 1.5 and 1.6.  These are also elements of the package.  The Board will have seen under issue 1.6 that there is agreed that the revenue requirement will be reduced by $500,000 through a reduction in the 2007 other O&M budget.  


Now, this other O&M budget will be discussed under issue 3.2.  However, the reduction in respect of EnVision under issue 1.6 flows over to the total that has been agreed upon for other O&M.


Another capital item that is part of the package is issue 1.7, dealing with the automatic meter reading project.  I think the wording of that is self explanatory.


So those rate base issues are one important element of the package.  Another element of the package is found at issue 2.1 on page 19.  This is an agreement on the sharing methodology, if I could use those words to loosely describe what is covered here, in respect of transactional services and also an agreement in respect of amounts to be recorded in the 2007 transactional services deferral account.  That also is part of the package.  


Issue 2.2 on the next page, that is page 20 is another part of the package.  This also, I think, is quite self-explanatory.  It is a settlement of the appropriate amount for other operating revenue and described here also is an imputation of revenue in respect of the Natural Gas Vehicles Program.  That is a complete settlement that is part of a package.  


Now, the next element of the package that I would take the Board to is issue 3.2.  This is discussed starting at page 23.  This is a part of the package, but it is not a complete settlement.  


To begin with, it is important to understand what is being addressed under this issue.  The parties have included in their packaged settlement a resolution of what has been described as other – "the other O&M budget."  The first paragraph of the description of the incomplete settlement at issue 3.2 describes what this other O&M budget includes.  


It does not include customer care including CIS, which I have already said is the subject of a consultative.  It does not include corporate cost allocations.  The amount of corporate cost allocations is dealt with at issue 3.7 and there are further corporate cost allocation issues at 3.6.  The other O&M does not include DSM, which was the subject of the recent generic proceeding.  With those exceptions, the category that I am now addressing encompasses the rest of the company's other O&M budget.  


The settlement that has been achieved is that the total of this other O&M budget for 2007 will be $181.5 million.  However, GEC and Pollution Probe do not agree with that settlement.  So it is not a full settlement agreed to by all parties.  


Certain parties wish to examine the company's spending in 2007 on marketing activities, fuel switching and energy link.  Except for GEC and Pollution Probe, the parties seeking to examine on these issues will do so within the $181.5 million envelope and will not be presenting it as an issue that affects the total amount.  


GEC and Pollution Probe, however, wish to examine the opportunity development budget separately and do not agree to the settlement of the overall amount at $181.5 million.  As well, the Board will have seen on page 4 in the description of the resolution that has been reached on issue 3.2, that parties - specifically Schools, HVAC and VECC - may advance specific arguments about allocation of specific categories of spending, depending on the Board's determination as to the way the company has budgeted its spending.  


Also, this other O&M settlement encompasses I believe issue 3.5 dealing with human resources.  So that is another main element of the package settlement is this resolution.  It is not a full resolution that has been achieved on the other O&M budget.  


I have already alluded to issue 3.7, dealing with the amount of corporate cost allocations for 2007.  That is another part of the package and that is a complete settlement as to the amount of those allocations.  


If I might just digress from describing the package for a moment and point out to the Board, as I alluded to earlier, that there is another corporate cost allocation issue under 3.6.  This has to do with the regulatory cost-allocation methodology.  As the Board will have seen under issue 3.6, the final report from the consultant retained on behalf of the consultative addressing this corporate cost allocation issue has not been filed.  


That is why no settlement could have been reached on issue 3.6, but as I said, I believe that those discussions are at least continuing in respect of the matters arising from that consultative.  


Now, perhaps I can move a little more quickly through the other elements of the package.  Issue 3.8 dealing with regulatory and OEB costs for 2007 is a complete settlement.  And part of the package.  The next issue, number 3.9 dealing with the change in the taxation year end is a complete settlement and part of the package.  


The depreciation issue at issue 3.1, is a complete settlement and part of the package.  Essentially, if I can, at the risk of oversimplification, describe this settlement, it is an agreement to continue the status quo insofar as depreciation rates are concerned.  The Board will see, though, that parties -- as part of the complete settlement, parties have reserved the right to examine on depreciation rates in the context of discussing other issues that have not been settled.  


I'm sorry, Mr. Chair.  I meant to say 3.11, and I have been saying 3.1.  I apologize for confusing matters.  That is the depreciation issue and it is 3.11.  


Now, another element of the package that is not a complete settlement is issue 3.12.  This concerns the establishment of 2007 deferral and variance accounts.  As the Board will have seen, there is no agreement to the establishment of certain accounts that have been listed on page 30 under issue 3.12.  These are accounts that are being -- that are part of the consultative processes that I have already referred to.  There are three 2007 proposed accounts that are part of the customer care CIS consultative.  There is one proposed account that is part of the open bill consultative.  


As a result it was not possible to have a complete settlement of that issue with the ongoing consultatives.  


Similarly, issue 3.13 is part of the package and it is not a complete settlement.  This issue has to do with the disposition of existing deferral and various accounts.  There are -- there is an agreement on clearing of certain accounts as the Board will see at page 31 that will result in a credit to customers of in excess of $23 million.  There is not an agreement on a number of other accounts which are listed at page 32.  I won't go through the list.  It is just a little more than halfway down page 32 and there are, I believe, six of them.  There is no agreement on the clearing of these deferral and variance accounts, so they will need to be addressed at the hearing and, again, that's why it is not possible to have a complete settlement on this particular issue.  


As well just for the record, I would point out above that on page 32 there is an agreement that another list of deferral and variance accounts will be continued for the Board to address clearance at a time in the future. 


Moving on to the next element of the package, that is issue 3.14 - 3.14 - which is a complete settlement on municipal property and other taxes.  


Issue 3.15 on the same page, page 33 is a complete settlement of issues with respect to income taxes, which includes the creation of a 2007 income tax rate change variance account to capture the impact of any corporate income tax rate changes, in accordance with the wording set out here, that may occur in 2007.


I believe that the one other element of the package that I should touch upon is issue 9.1.  That is on page 46.  As the Board would appreciate, there are a number of monetary elements that are part of the package that I have just attempted to describe.  As a result of the impact of the monetary elements of this package, some agreement has been reached about recovery of an additional amount by the company. 


I should point out immediately that this is not a full agreement.  There is a party, Schools, that dissents from this agreement.  However, those parties who concur in the agreement, including the company, have reached a resolution on the basis that the company can adjust rates to recover an additional $26 million effective as of January 1st, 2007, and further details of the agreement on rate implementation are described under issue 9.1.


There is no agreement as to whether or how the company can recover any revenue deficiency in excess of $26 million.


Now, I should also point out that there is further explanation of rate implementation matters back on page 9 of the settlement proposal.  The paragraph starting on the bottom of page 9, the Board will see the reference to the package settlement that I have just gone through, the indication that it is subject to the objections of GEC, Pollution Probe and Schools, as noted earlier.  


I think I have at least alluded to the nature of those objections and that none of the parts of the package are severable.  Now, I won't read the rest of the words, unless the Board wishes me to, but the Board will see there that there is a further description of how the parties have agreed that rate implementation can occur.


Just for example, starting right at the bottom of page 9, GEC's and Pollution Probe's agreement is subject to any later adjustments to the recovery of the revenue deficiency that might be required as a result of issue 3.2.  The agreement of Schools is subject to any later adjustment to the recovery of revenue deficiency that might be required as a result of issue 9.1.


I haven't read all of the words, but there is further explanation in that paragraph that I hope will make clear to the Board what the agreement is on rate implementation and how the positions of GEC, Pollution Probe and Schools have been described in connection with rate implementation.


Now, that is an overview of the package.  As I indicated at the outset, there are other fully settled issues that are not part of the package.  What I would propose to do is, as quickly as I can, identify those for the Board or at least hit the highlights, if I can do that.


The first that I would take the Board to is issue 3.1 on page 22.  There is a complete settlement on the issue relating to the 2007 gas cost forecast, including the calculation of the PGVA reference price.  


As the Board will see, parties accept the company's forecast, and the company has agreed with certain parties that when the issues list for the Board's proceeding on QRAM methodology is discussed, the company will support the inclusion of an issue regarding detailed calculation of the PGVA reference price.  That is a complete settlement that is not part of the package.


Similarly, issue 4.1 on page 34 is a complete settlement.  This is quite self explanatory.  It is a resolution of the ROE for 2007 calculated in accordance with the Board's guidelines.


There is a complete settlement of cost allocation matters described under issue 5.1, with certain exceptions that are identified there.  This is on page 36.  So subject to what is said elsewhere in this document about issue 6.2, 6.4 and 8.1, and subject to a compliance review of the cost allocation embedded in any rate orders, there is a complete settlement of cost allocation issues.


Just to touch briefly on what these three issues are that are identified here as exceptions, issue 6.2 is, in summary -- and I hope my oversimplifications don't misstate anything, but, in summary, is an issue about revenue-to-cost ratios for rates 1 and 6.  That is not a settled issue and that will go to hearing, that issue about revenue-to-cost ratios under 6.2.


Issues 6.4 and 8.1 I believe are settled issues, and so I will come to them a bit later as I go through these settled issues that are not part of the package.


Still on the same page - that is page 36 - the Board will see that demand‑side management is a complete settlement, in respect of recovering demand‑side management costs and delivery charges as opposed to load balancing charges.  


There is another DSM issue that I will come to in a moment, but issue 5.2 is a complete settlement.


Issue 6.1 on page 37 deals with delivery demand charges for rates 100 and 145, and that is a complete settlement in accordance with the company's proposal.


Issue 6.4 on page 40 is a complete settlement.  This is one of the exceptions that was alluded to under issue 5.1.  That has to do with bundled transportation charges and the T‑service credit.  I won't read it.  I hope it is clear to the Board.  That's another area of complete settlement.


Issue 8.1, starting on page 44, is an area of complete settlement.  This has to do with actions or decisions that may be necessary to assure that the Board's decisions in the NGEIR proceeding are appropriately captured.  


It is quite a lengthy discussion.  Again, I hope it was clear to the Board.  It is a settlement that has to do with potential migration to the new unbundled rates 300 and 315.  In the NGEIR proceeding, there was discussion of a manual solution that the company was going to use in respect of customers migrating to this particular rate, but the possible development of a automated solution depending on the level of migration.  


This settlement described under issue 8.1, I believe, clarifies or adds additional detail to how the company is going to handle this issue of migration and, particularly the company's commitment to undertake a survey, if at any time the 20 customers referred to in the NGEIR proceeding have migrated or committed to migrate to evaluate the demand.  So again I hope that that is self-explanatory, but it is intended to further the result of the NGEIR proceeding.  


That also was one of the exceptions that was referred to under issue 5.1, but is a complete settlement just the same.  


I have already mentioned that there is another DSM issue.  That is under issue 8.2.  This has to do with what may be necessary to capture the outcome of the Board's generic DSM proceeding.  All parties agree that the implications of that proceeding were captured in accordance with the company's filing and that is a complete settlement.  


The one last item that is in the complete settlement category is issue 9.2 at page 47.  This had to do with interim rates effective January 1st, 2007 and really is a complete settlement because it is no longer relevant with January 1st having already passed.  


So, Mr. Chair, that is a summary, I hope, of the settlement both in terms of the package and in terms of completely settled items that are not part of the package.  This leaves for hearing those elements of each settlement where the resolution is not complete and it also leaves for hearing a number of matters where there has been no settlement, again, those are listed in the chart that I showed the Board on page 8 of the settlement proposal.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  Any of the other parties wish to comment on the overview that Mr. Cass has presented?  


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. POCH: 


MR. POCH:  Mr. Chairman, I just wanted to draw to your attention to one slight ambiguity in here.  I think my friend made it reasonably clear, but just off on the off chance, out of caution.  


At page 10 of the agreement, after the description of the package and the dissent in part on certain issues of three parties including GEC, there is the statement that the, if the Board doesn't accept the package in its entirety, then there is no settlement proposal.  In agreeing to the wording here, we've interpreted this, and I think this isn't a problem for the other parties, that that statement was not intended to override the notion that the Board can accept the partial settlement and the package without accepting the part of the package, the aspects of the other O&M budget affected by issues 3.2 and the sub issues there under.  I imagine the parties to the package are bound to one another not to argue about the 181.5 million, but the Board is not required to accept that number at that time, to accept the package otherwise. 


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Any problem with that, Mr. Cass?  


MR. CASS:  I think I understood Mr. Poch.  I don't have a problem with what he said.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar, what is next?  


MR. MILLAR:  Well, Mr. Chair, I am not sure if there are any questions about the settlement proposal from the panel.  I just have one quick clarification question, it sort of touches on the issue that Mr. Poch and Mr. Cass were just discussing.  


I guess my question is to the parties from a procedural standpoint, how do they propose to deal with the, I guess, there are three outliers on a couple of the issues, Schools on one issue, then GEC, and Pollution Probe on another.  From a procedural standpoint, how do the parties propose we deal with this?  Do we hear these matters before the panel ultimately considers the settlement proposal?  Or is it considered afterwards?  I guess I am just looking if the parties have any ideas on how we will go forward.  Maybe you just discussed that, Mr. Poch.  Maybe I am confused.  It is Monday morning, but just so that is perfectly clear maybe I could get a clarification on that.  


MR. POCH:  Yes.  I was planning to address that.  The message I was trying to get across, Mr. Cass will correct me if I am wrong, if the Board is free today, for example, to accept the settlement and accept the package, but the package that the Board would be accepting would be somewhat smaller package than the parties to the package as outlined in the agreement have agreed to amongst themselves.  That is, the Board would be accepting the aspects of the package other than fixing the 181.5 and the other -- the opportunity development budget, that is, as far as Mr. Shepherd may wish to speak to this because there is another aspect there, but as far as GEC is concerned, the one aspect we want the Board to reserve on and hear the evidence is whether or not the 181.5 needs to change or the OD budget needs to be fixed, or circumscribed in some fashion. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if I could add, Mr. Chairman.  Schools is on outlier on issue 9.1, and we understand the impact of that to be that if the Board accepts the settlement, it is accepting the settlement whether or not the end result of 9.1 is that the company collects $26 million under the settlement, or some lesser amount which looks like it is probably about 15 or 16 million.  


So the Board, in deciding whether to accept the settlement, would have to, in our submission, decide that whether or not -- whichever of those results were the case under 9.1, the settlement is still the appropriate settlement.  


MR. KAISER:  And leave the debate, whether it is 26 or 15 or 16, to the hearing?  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  I should add that the overall issue of retroactivity is still in play because there is still a number of issues, $52 million of deficiency that is not resolved and as far as I know nobody has agreed to retroactivity of that amount.  


MR. KAISER:  Right. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that issue is still live.  It is only the component of that issue that deals with the 26 million on which we are an outlier and everybody else has agreed.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Shepherd, if I can follow that up.  I am not sure I fully understand this.  


You said there is an issue for the hearing about the retroactivity or not retroactivity of the potential of $52 million; right? 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  


MR. VLAHOS:  That is not an issue in your mind.  That is an issue for the hearing for all parties concerned?  The $26 million, what is precisely the issue?  The company wants this effective January 1st, implemented April 1st?  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  


MR. VLAHOS:  So what is the issue from your perspective?  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  The issue is the retroactive effect of collecting in rates from April through December, a deficiency that had they filed on time would have been collected in January through March.  That is $10 million or $11 million, I think, which they would have collected had they filed in a timely manner and because they didn't, they haven't and the effect is to make the rates on April 1st effectively retroactive to January 1st 


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  That clarifies.  Now, what is the agreement now among parties in terms of what is going to go to the hearing?  Or do we have to decide whether the $26 million should be reflected in the rates?  


MR. SHEPHERD:  The parties have agreed that the component of the deficiency of the $26 million that would have otherwise been collected from January through March, will be collected in a nine month rate rider effective April 1st.  Schools objects to that and believes that because the company filed late they should not be entitled to collect that amount.  


MR. VLAHOS:  So that is going to go to the hearing?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Therefore the Board cannot make a decision on this.  It is an issue for the hearing?  Mr. Cass, then you don't expect the panel to rule on this as part of the package, do you?  


MR. CASS:  No, I don't, sir.  Not at all.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  


MR. CASS:  It did seem, to me, possible for the Board to accept the package as it is written and, in accepting the package as it is written, that assumes that there are these loose ends, if I could call them that, that will need to go to hearing, but it certainly wasn't my thought that the Board would attempt to deal with the loose ends at the time of dealing with the settlement proposal.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  So as we go through the hearing, if there is no -- I guess we still have the hearing in March and we will have to implement rates on April 1st, and you would need a decision at some point before April, wouldn't you?


MR. CASS:  Yes, Mr. Vlahos.


MR. VLAHOS:  In isolation perhaps of the decision on the total rates case.  Can you hear me?  I am covering my mike here.  So it is possible that the Board may have to rule on that specific issue at some point prior to its decision on the rest of the issues?


MR. CASS:  That is conceivable, Mr. Vlahos, yes.  I hope it won't come to that, but...

     Mr. Vlahos, if I could take the Board back to the wording at the bottom of page 9 and over to page 10.  I had thought this wording was intended to address that.  So perhaps if I am mistaken, people can correct me.


And also perhaps I skipped over this more quickly than I should have.  So if you look at the paragraph starting at the bottom of page 9, the second sentence:   

"All parties agree that for rate implementation purposes only, the company can adjust rates to recover an additional 26 million effective as of January 1st, 2007 and that this will be implemented at the same time as the company's April 1st, 2007 QRAM is implemented." 


Then as I did allude to before, GEC and Pollution Probe's agreement would be subject to later adjustments that might be required as a result of what the Board determines under issue 3.2.  Schools' agreement would be subject to any later adjustments as a result of what the Board determines under issue 9.1.


So I had hoped that that had dealt with the issue that you are describing, Mr. Vlahos.


MR. VLAHOS:  I see.  So, Mr. Shepherd, the Panel could go ahead and agree to that $26 million effective January 1st, implemented April 1st, but the Panel would reserve its final decision on this matter once it hears that issue.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, absolutely.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, Mr. Vlahos, the effect of your decision -- supposing you accept the package, the effect of that package is not that the company can recover $26 million.  The effect of that package is the company can make an adjustment April 1st which would recover that, subject to your decision on 9.1.


MR. VLAHOS:  So I understand there will be interim recovery effective January 1st, implemented April 1st?


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.


MR. VLAHOS:  That clarifies.  Thank you.


Now, going back to issue 3.2, Mr. Cass, I just want to make sure I understand what has been agreed to.


It is the words on the settlement proposal, as well as what has been talked to today.  There is agreement on the $181 million, other than whatever the decision may be on the OD, which stands for?


MR. CASS:  It stands for opportunity development.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay, opportunity development budget.


So that issue, that issue can go to the hearing.  Whatever the Board finding will be on that issue, then that can adjust the $181 million?


MR. CASS:  Yes.  Let me try this, Mr. Vlahos, and people can correct me if I misstate it.  The overall envelope of $181.5 million for other O&M is agreed upon, but not by Pollution Probe and GEC.


Pollution Probe and GEC have elements within the $181.5 million that they wish to explore, that being, in particular, opportunity development, as you have alluded to, and, as I understand it, they may argue that depending on the outcome of the examination of opportunity development, that $181.5 million should change.


There are other issues referred to here from other parties on specific items within the $181.5 million, but those don't go to the total.  They just go to spending within the total.  It is GEC and Pollution Probe whose arguments about spending within O&D -- sorry, within opportunity development actually go to the total.  


So that is why it is not a complete settlement on that total amount, because there are those two parties who would potentially be saying that the total should change.


MR. VLAHOS:  But is there disagreement by any of the parties for this O&D budget issue to be -- and possibly adjust the $181 million?  Is there an issue with that for any of the parties?


MR. CASS:  Sorry, Mr. Vlahos, I didn't get the question.


MR. VLAHOS:  The parties, other than GEC and Pollution Probe, have agreed to the $181 million?


MR. CASS:  That's correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  And they have not agreed that that 181 should change depending what the Board's findings will be on the opportunity development budget.


MR. CASS:  That's correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  There is no change of heart this morning?


MR. CASS:  No.


MR. POCH:  Mr. Vlahos, I may have misheard you there, but I just want to make sure this is clear on the record, that -- I think my understanding, from what Mr. Cass said, is those parties have agreed to the 181 amongst themselves, that the 181.5 is the position they will be supporting in the hearing, but they don't object to the Board, you know, as a matter of the Board's rights, the Board accepting the settlement package and altering the 181.5 after it has heard evidence, if the Board so chooses.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  That is why I asked, and the answer was "no" by Mr. Cass, that the parties would still stick to the $181 million.  I like Mr. Poch's offer.


MR. POCH:  They have agreed to advocate for it, as amongst themselves, as part of the package deal, but they understand Board may not -- at the end of the day, the Board may or may not agree with their view and they may -- is that correct, Mr. Cass?


MR. CASS:  I think so, yes.  Again, none of the parties to the settlement at $181.5 million are changing their mind or having a different view of that settlement, but I think it is appreciated that because the settlement does not include all parties, that there is a potential for the Board ultimately to do something different, given the position of GEC and Pollution Probe.


It is not that parties are agreeing in any fashion that the Board should do anything different.  It is that they recognize because ‑‑ that GEC and Pollution Probe are taking that position and, if their arguments are accepted, then something different could happen.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, gentlemen.  Let's quit while we are all ahead on this one.  I understand now.  Thank you.


A couple of other matters, Mr. Chair, if you don't mind.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Mr. Chair, before we leave that topic on the record, I wonder if I could just hopefully not subtract from what you have nailed down, but I ‑‑


MR. WARREN:  Then stop, Murray, stop.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I won't stop.  Others have referred to the parties, including Pollution Probe, as outliers and loose ends, and I am encouraged, with the apparent seriousness now, that in fact the Board may reconsider that 181, but I do want to note for the record I don't consider Pollution Probe to be a loose end or an outlier, however, whatever pejorative impression those words may use.


MR. POCH:  On the other hand, GEC wears the badge of outlier proudly.


MR. VLAHOS:  Don't expect me to comment on any of those.


There was the issue, and, Mr. Cass, perhaps you can help me.  There was the issue about the cost allocation, corporate cost allocation budget.  Perhaps you can help me with what page that was on.


MR. CASS:  Yes.  That was issue 3.7, I believe, Mr. Vlahos.  That is page 27.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Maybe you can help me understand. What has been agreed to?  There is a figure of -- I'm reading from 3.7.  There is the figure of 18.1 million.  That has been agreed to, being what?


MR. CASS:  Being the overall amount of corporate cost allocations for 2007.


MR. VLAHOS:  Overall corporate cost allocations?


MR. CASS:  So these are the ‑‑


MR. VLAHOS:  Those are what has been transferred or moved to the corporate?  I don't understand what ‑‑


MR. CASS:  These are the charges for services provided by Enbridge Inc., and the appropriate amount for those in the test year has been agreed upon as $18.1 million. 

MR. VLAHOS:  So it is services from the corporate family to the utility?  


MR. CASS:  Correct.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  So what has now been agreed to, then?  


MR. CASS:  Now, there is an issue about methodology.  That is issue 3.6.  The regulatory cost-allocation methodology.  


These matters have been part of a consultative.  There has been success in coming to the number under 3.7, but for the reasons described under 3.6, the methodology issue has not yet -- I shouldn't say yet, has not been settled.  Again, as indicated under issue 3.6, there is a final report coming from the consultant retained on behalf of the consultative, and that has not yet been filed.  So it was not possible to settle issue 3.6 on the methodology.  


MR. VLAHOS:  But if the methodology issue settled, then is it a potential to change the 18.1 million for the test year?  


MR. CASS:  No.  


MR. VLAHOS:  This would apply going forward?  


MR. KAISER:  The methodology would just apply going forward?  


MR. CASS:  The methodology would apply going forward.  The $18.1 million would apply for 2007.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay, thank you, sir, that helps.  


Thank you, Mr. Chair, those are all of my questions for now.  


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar, what is next?  

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair I am not sure, if there are no more questions from the panel, if the panel wishes to reserve to consider this?  Or if they will consider it later in the day.  I think the next step are, there are three motions and I understand there may be some updates as to the timing of hearing those motions.  I will hear from the parties on that.  


Then I guess unless there is anything else, we will get into the evidence.  


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Well, we will take the settlement agreement under advisement and let you know after the morning break how we are going to proceed with respect to that.  We will hear from -- which is the first motion, Mr. Millar?  


MR. MILLAR:  There is a motion from Pollution Probe and there is a motion from HVAC and then there is a motion from Enbridge, Mr. Chair.  


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass, do you want to go first?  


MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, I am not sure of the extent to which there is anything that needs to be argued this morning.  Others can indicate their views.  Mr. O'Leary has actually been dealing with Mr. Klippenstein on the Pollution Probe motion and they can perhaps address that.  


As far as the motions -- the other two motions, one is by HVAC for information requested of Enbridge Gas Distribution and one is in the other direction.  Enbridge Gas Distribution has provided some further information to the HVAC coalition.  I think it may just have gone out this morning, if I am correct.  So there is at least an attempt to narrow that motion, if not resolve it.  


So subject to anything that counsel for HVAC may have to say, it would be my suggestion to the Board that that motion be tabled for now, to see whether it can be -- to what extent it can be narrowed before it is argued -- I should actually say both of those motions back and forth between Enbridge Gas Distribution and HVAC.  


MR. KAISER:  Mr. DeVellis, do you want to table it?  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. DeVELLIS:


MR. DeVELLIS:  The HVAC motion was in regards to the EnergyLink and open bill issues and the reason we believe that the questions were important is that we believe there is a real danger that the open bill and EnergyLink issues will result in the Enbridge name having a presence in the HVAC market, that will inevitably cause customer confusion as to the relationship between Enbridge Gas Distribution and Enbridge Solutions, or any other Enbridge affiliates that may be participating in the market.  


So before the Board approves either of those proposals we believe it is imperative for the Board to have the absolute clarity as to Enbridge's affiliates' plans in the market.  And we have received a letter from Mr. Stevens this morning in regards to some of our questions, but rather than try and parse them on the fly, I would like to have an opportunity to discuss the answers with my client and advise the Board further.  


I had also discussed with Mr. Stevens on Friday that both motions should be heard together so if we are going to be putting one off it would be appropriate to put the other off as well.  


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Mr. O'Leary, have you been dealing with this?  


MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, Mr. Chair.  Mr. Klippenstein and I actually spoke earlier this morning and we hope to have a draft response to Pollution Probe for their review later today, and we believe that that may resolve the matter.  But if not I believe Mr. Klippenstein wishes to adjourn the motion sine die which we would agree with.  


MR. KAISER:  All right.  We will adjourn these two motions sine die.  Is there a third motion?  


I thought they were cross-motions?  


MR. CASS:  Yes, there are.  Sorry.  Sorry, Mr. Chair, I didn't make that sufficiently clear.  There are cross-motions as between HVAC Coalition and Enbridge.  The suggestion is that they be dealt with together. 


MR. KAISER:  We will stand them both down.  


MR. CASS:  Thank you, sir. 


MR. POCH:  Mr. Chair just to advise you I have one in my back pocket but it so significantly overlaps with Mr. Klippenstein's, I have not served it and I am hopeful it will not be needed pending the resolution by Mr. Klippenstein.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.  Mr. Millar, I think that takes care of the motions for the moment.  


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Mr. Chair, we can either proceed -- I don't know if Mr. Cass is ready to call the first panel or if you would like to take the morning break. 


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass, why don't we take the morning break a little bit early you can get the panel ready. 


MR. CASS:  Yes, Mr. Chair, that would be fine.  It will actually be Mr. O'Leary who will take responsibility for that panel, so you will see him after the break.  


MR. KAISER:  All right.  15 minutes.  


--- Recess taken at 10:27 a.m.


‑‑‑ Upon resuming at 10:45 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Millar, is the settlement agreement in evidence?  Do we have an exhibit number for it?


MR. MILLAR:  We can give it an exhibit.  It is in the evidence, Mr. Chair.  Could I remind the Chair, I think we need to go back on the air, so there is a...


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I think it is already in evidence, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  What is the exhibit number?


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair it is Exhibit N1, tab 1, schedule 1.


DECISION:

MR. KAISER:  The Board this morning heard submissions from the parties, from Mr. Cass for Enbridge and counsel for some of the intervenors, with respect to the settlement agreement which was filed with the board on January 24th and is now marked as Exhibit N1, tab 1, schedule 1.


The Board accepts the settlement agreement as filed, together with the clarifications that were made on the record this morning.


Thank you, gentlemen.  Mr. O'Leary.


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Just one preliminary matter.  We provided to Mr. Millar a two‑page document, which is simply a copy of two pages out of the evidence.  One page is actually a table that formed part of Enbridge's Interrogatory No. 3 to Energy Probe, and the second is table 1 from the prefiled evidence of Tom Adams at table 1, Exhibit L, tab 5, schedule 1.


Just for ease of reference, we thought that it would be convenient to produce that today.  Perhaps we could mark that as an exhibit.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Mr. Chair.  While we are at it, Mr. Buonaguro has also provided some documents he is going to be entering as exhibits, so it might be easy just to mark them all now.


Mr. O'Leary's exhibit will be K2.1.


EXHIBIT NO. K2.1:  TABLE FORMING PART OF ENBRIDGE'S 


INTERROGATORY NO. 3 TO ENERGY PROBE, AND TABLE 1 AT 


EXHIBIT L, TAB 5, SCHEDULE 1 FROM THE PREFILED 


EVIDENCE OF TOM ADAMS.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Battista is bringing copies up.  Mr. Buonaguro had two documents that he wanted entered as exhibits.  The first one is an extract from the -- it looks like the Natural Gas Forum, if I am not mistaken, Mr. Buonaguro, and that will be Exhibit K2.2.


EXHIBIT NO. K2.2:  EXTRACT FROM NATURAL GAS FORUM 


PROVIDED BY MR. BUONAGURO.

MR. MILLAR:  And the third exhibit is a -- I believe it is an exhibit from the previous Union rates case.  It is a two‑page document ‑‑ pardon me, three pages, and that will be Exhibit K2.3.

EXHIBIT NO. K2.3:  THREE-PAGE DOCUMENT FROM PREVIOUS

UNION RATES CASE

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Battista, I believe, has copies that he can bring up to the Panel.  Oh, you already have it.


MR. KAISER:  Just on this note, since we are embarking on an electronic hearing today, did the Board Staff get a copy of this?  The people that are putting this stuff on the monitor, did they get a copy of this?


MR. MILLAR:  We do have some extra copies, Mr. Chair, so it may be possible.  I don't know if we can ‑‑ some of these are not prefiled.  Some of them are and some of them aren't.  So we may be able to display them on the AV projector.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Well, just make sure they have copies.  For all counsel, if you are proceeding with cross‑examination and you are going to be referring to documents in the course of the cross‑examination or, for that matter, on the direct examination, if you would provide Board counsel with copies and copies to the Panel in advance?  


The reason I particularly ask this at this time, and I should have mentioned this at the opening, is we are hoping to display any of these documents on the screen so you have them before you.  This is our first attempt to do an electronic hearing, so if you can cooperate with these people, it would be helpful.  Mr. Buonaguro.


MR. BUONAGURO:  If it is helpful, I can actually e‑mail PDFs right now, if I have the right address.


MR. KAISER:  I am not sure if they have that capability.


MR. MILLAR:  I am not sure who you would e‑mail them to.


MR. KAISER:  Maybe Ms. Mayer-Powell can give you an e‑mail address and you can send it to her, and she can print it out and give it to the secretary.


MS. MAYER‑POWELL:  My e‑mail address is at the bottom of the sheet here and on the memo that was left on your desk.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. O'Leary.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I would like to introduce our first panel.  We have, furthest from me, Mr. Keith Irani, and to his right is Mr. Dave Charleson, and they are appearing here for the risk management issue, which is 3.10.  If I could ask for them to be sworn in, Mr. Quesnelle.


ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 1:


Keith Irani; Sworn


Dave Charleson; Sworn


EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MR. O'LEARY:

MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, the risk management evidence, which was prefiled by the company, appears at Exhibit D1, tab 4, schedule 3.  Obviously interrogatory responses at Exhibit I under various tabs were prepared by the company.  And just for the record, Mr. Adams has filed evidence at Exhibit L, tab 5, schedule 1, and responses to interrogatories from the company at Exhibit I, tab 31, schedules 1 to 36.


If I could turn to you, Mr. Irani.  Was the prefiled evidence and the company's responses to interrogatories prepared by you under your direction and supervision?


MR. IRANI:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  The same question to you, Mr. Charleson.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, it was.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Do you, Mr. Irani, adopt the evidence for the purposes of this proceeding?


MR. IRANI:  Yes, I do.


MR. O'LEARY:  Yourself, Mr. Charleson?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I do. 


MR. O'LEARY:  I wonder if I could ask, Mr. Irani, could you please advise of your involvement and position with the utility with respect to risk management.


MR. IRANI:  I have responsibility for managing and administrating ‑‑ administering the activities of the gas supply risk management committee to ensure that the policies and procedures of the program are followed.


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Charleson, the same question to you.


MR. CHARLESON:  I am currently responsible for all of the gas supply activities within Enbridge Gas Distribution and, as part of that, I am responsible for the execution of the risk management activities within the company.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right, thank you.  Just some very brief evidence-in-chief.


Mr. Charleson, could you please summarize the relief that the company is seeking in this proceeding in respect of risk management activities.


MR. CHARLESON:  There's two aspects that we are looking to have addressed within this proceeding.  The first is we are seeking Board support for the continuation of the risk management program as it is currently operated.  The second is the approval for the company to clear through rates the capital expenditures that were made converting our old spreadsheets into a database platform that was recorded in the 2006 gas supply risk management program deferral account that was established as a result of the 2006 rates case.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  What was the amount of that, Mr. Charleson?


MR. CHARLESON:  The amount of that was $691,500, as was identified in the company's response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 36.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Mr. Charleson.  Could you please briefly summarize, for the benefit of the Panel, why the company submits that the clearance of this amount through to rates is appropriate.


MR. CHARLESON:  Well, first, I think since ‑‑ this is an issue that's come up in the previous two rate cases, with has involved different panels of the Board.  I would like, very briefly, first to highlight the history behind the company's capital expenditures.


The company retained some outside experts to evaluate the risk management program.  The company presented a report of risk advisory and one of its principals, Mr. Simard, attended as a witness during the company's 2005 rates case.


 As part of that review of the risk management program, risk advisory recommended a number of improvements to the risk management program.  One of these improvements included upgrading from the Excel spreadsheets that were being used for managing the program to a more robust format.  


Just for reference, that was dealt with within the 2005 decision, which was RP-2003‑0203, Exhibit A3, tab 3, schedule 1 at page 45.


Prior to the 2006 oral hearing, the company had been experiencing some difficulties with its continued use of the Excel spreadsheets.  They were becoming less stable, and a number of problems were being encountered with running them, which led the company to conclude that it should proceed with the conversion.


Given the Board's findings in the RP-2003‑0203 proceeding, the risk management program that provided -- where the Board had indicated that the risk management program provided value to ratepayers and should continue, and the company was having at the time with the spreadsheets, it decided to proceed with the conversion and did so at a cost lower than the original estimate.  


Now, just to be clear, at the time that the company incurred the costs associated with the upgrades, the continuation of the risk management program was not in question.  It was only after the costs were incurred and presented to the Board in the company's 2006 rate case that some parties questioned the continuation of the risk management program.  


Accordingly -- the company believes that it has prudently incurred the capital costs and it should be cleared through to rate base.  


The company also believes that the recovery of these amounts should be independent of whether the Board -- whether or not the Board determines that the risk management program should continue, or not, through this proceeding.  


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Charleson.  Turning to the second issue, which is before this panel, which is the continuation of the risk management program itself.  Could you, please, summarize for the benefit of this panel the reasons why the company submits that the risk management program should continue.  


MR. CHARLESON:  Well, Enbridge is a rate-regulated entity.  It also remains a customer service oriented business.  And it has no less needs to maintain customer satisfaction than any other service sector industry.  


We undertook a customer survey and the results of that were presented in the company's 2006 rate case.  That study was undertaken by an independent polling firm and it found that a significant majority of Enbridge customers want price volatility risk to be managed, and this is the primary objective of a risk management program.  


So to state it simply the company believes that the majority of its customers, particularly low-income customers, support the continuation of the risk management program for several reasons, which include:  While there is a budget billing plan available to all residential customers, not all customers choose to participate in that plan.  It is also important to understand that the budget billing plan doesn't guarantee equal monthly billings, indeed there's been historical situations involving substantial volatility.  Even the budget billing plan is affected by the company's risk management activities.  


Stated differently, there is a higher likelihood of volatility being a participate of the budget billing plan if risk management is discontinued.  Risk management, which has benefits for residential and small commercial customers, should be continued for the same reasons that many larger industrial users engage in similar activities, to limit their exposure to price volatility.  


Contrary to the evidence of Mr. Adams, the O&M costs to operate the risk management program has not doubled since 2005.  The fact is that in 2005, the company was forecasting O&M costs for the risk management program of about $128,000.  But for the purposes of settlement agreed to an O&M recovery of $64,000.  


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Charleson.  If I could ask you now to refer to Exhibit K2.1, which was just marked earlier this morning which consists of two tables.  One is I will describe it as table D which is the first page which is the table that was put by the company to Mr. Adams in the interrogatory number 3 and the second is Mr. Adams' table number 1 which appears in his prefiled evidence.  


I am wondering if you could comment as to which table you think the company believes is more illustrative of the value of the benefit of risk management activities to ratepayers.  


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  It is the company's belief that the table reproduced as page 1 of Exhibit K2.1 is more illustrative of the benefits of the risk management program.  


In looking at the table from Mr. Adams evidence, table 1 from Mr. Adams' evidence, reproduced as page 2 of Exhibit K2.1, it is strictly measuring the difference between the PGVA reference price at any individual QRAM filing.   While this does indicate the difference that is achieved by the risk management at that quarter, it doesn't give an indication of the volatility that a consumer is experiencing by the price changes that happen from quarter to quarter.  


If we look at the table on page 1 of Exhibit K2.1, what this is showing is how the price change from quarter to quarter would differ with or without the risk management program.  So to choose a simple example.  If we look at the line for April of 2002, we can see that the PGVA reference price, with risk management in there would have been -- was $193.52.  That represented a $26.94 change from the previous PGVA reference price that was in place.  


Comparably, if no risk management activity had been undertaken, the PGVA reference price would have been $188.78, which would have been a $29.44 change from the previous quarter's PGVA reference price.  


As a result, because of the risk management activities, the magnitude of the change quarter over quarter was $2.50 less than if there had been no risk management program.  So similarly, if we look at the -- at all of those quarter-over-quarter changes, it gives the order of magnitude change that the PGVA reference price experienced and that would be -- would translates directly into the volatility that an end-use customer would experience in the commodity costs on their bill.  


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Charleson.  Mr. Chair, that is the evidence in-chief.  The panel is now open for cross-examination.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  Mr. Millar, what is the order of cross-examination?  


MR. MILLAR:  I am not sure, Mr. Chair.  I know Mr. Adams certainly has some cross-examination, but I believe he was hoping that parties in support of the company's position would go first.  So I don't know if there has been further discussions on that, or not.  


MR. KAISER:  Any questions from parties in support?
Mr. Buonaguro.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  That is me.  


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BUONAGURO:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning, panel.  I would like to actually start with Exhibit K2.3, which is the evidence that Union submitted in its latest rate case 2006-0520 in support of its risk management program.  


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  I submitted this to the company last week for them to take a peek at and you actually refer, in your evidence, to the approval of Union's risk management program in support of your own.  


Have you had a chance to look at this; and, if so, can you describe for me or compare the results that Union put forward in support of its plan in comparison to your results.  


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, we have had an opportunity to look at this.  In doing so, we really focussed in on one table in particular, and that would be the, I stapled them together it is page 3.  I don't have a copy of the one that was filed.  But this is the table that at the top left corner is titled risk management impact on WACOG and PGVA.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  That's the first page, the way I have stapled them.  Thank you.  


MR. CHARLESON:  Again, our understanding of this table is that it is doing something comparable to what is being shown in Mr. Adams' table 1 from his evidence, at least the table at the far left-hand side under the Alberta border reference price, where it showing the price, the Alberta border-approved WACOG with an without risk management on -- with each of the effective dates of what I assume to be a price change on Union Gas's system.  And has compared the percentage differential between those two prices.  


In looking at that, we can see that there has been relatively small percentage differences arising from those changes, and I would characterize them as being somewhat comparable to the percentage differences or percentage changes that are seen in Mr. Adams' table number 1.  


Now, similarly, I did take a look at this as well and look at it on the basis of how we are viewing the volatility that customers experience by looking at the impact that each of the price changes and the order of magnitude change that the customer would experience under the two different scenarios.  Again, what I found was there were comparable results to what we are seeing in Enbridge's program.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I would actually like to move on to the second document that I have circulated, K2.2, which is, as Mr. Millar points out, an excerpt from the Natural Gas Regulation of Ontario Forum, pages 65 to 70.  I don't necessarily think you have to turn it up.  I also gave this to the company last week.


Did you have a chance to look through that excerpt, the pages I referred to?


MR. CHARLESON:  I haven't looked through it recently, but I am somewhat familiar with it, given my participation in the Natural Gas Forum.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, one of the issues that has arisen in one of the last year or two is the possible overlapping effect of the QRAM, the PGVA budget billing and risk management.


As I understand from this document, at least the reference price, the PGVA and the QRAM are at issue in a generic proceeding which is scheduled for this year.  Is that your understanding?


MR. CHARLESON:  That is -- my understanding is that those topics will be addressed through some form of generic proceeding, the timing of which is still to be finalized, but originally was anticipated for sometime this year.


MR. BUONAGURO:  To the extent that the way in which the reference price PGVA has calculated changes or the way in which the QRAM is administered changes, I would expect that that may have an effect on the extent to which risk management overlaps with the smoothing effects of either QRAM or the reference price.  Am I correct?


MR. CHARLESON:  There would be some relationship between the two elements, but I would still view them as being somewhat distinct and being able to be addressed separately.


My understanding of what the Board will be looking at, in terms of the system gas issues arising from the Natural Gas Forum report, are focussed on the allocation of costs to system gas, and looking towards a standardization of a QRAM methodology for ‑‑ between Union and Enbridge.


I view the risk management activity as being something that can be assessed independent of that.  While the impact of risk management ‑‑ while the impact of risk management activities does transfer through into the ultimate PGVA reference price and henceforth the commodity cost for customers, I still see the whole risk management issue as being something that can be addressed independent of those other aspects.


MR. BUONAGURO:  To the extent that they do have an interrelationship, it may magnify or demagnify the risk management impact on smoothing?


MR. CHARLESON:  I would anticipate that it would be relatively minor, if noticeable, in terms of the extent to which a change in QRAM methodology or the PGVA reference price calculation would be amplified or minimized by the outcome of the Natural Gas Forum ‑‑ of the system gas generic activities.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  I would like to turn to the budget billing plan and, in particular, in your evidence at page 8.  I just have to find your evidence here.


So Exhibit D1, tab 4, schedule 3.  It was on the monitor earlier.  I am just giving them a chance to turn it up on the monitor, if they want.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Buonaguro, we are having difficulty hearing you.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry.  Exhibit D1, tab 4, schedule 3.  It is the company's prefiled evidence on risk management, in particular, page 8, paragraph 20.  


You state in this paragraph that under what used to be called the equal billing plan, which is now called the budget billing plan, a customer's bill is reviewed every three months and revisions to the equal billing plan monthly amount may be required to reflect the customer's natural gas usage or if there is a significant change in the reference price or both.


Now, this suggests to me that even though a customer may have elected to be on the budget billing plan and may be under the assumption, rightly or wrongly, that their monthly bill is going to be the same, there are circumstances under which their bill may go up to account for dramatic incidents of price volatility, for example.


MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.  The intent of the budget billing plan is to provide a smoothing of the payments so that it makes it easier for customers to manage, say, high winter bills versus low summer bills.


However, also through managing the plan, the company is also concerned about there being a large year end balance within the plan that may need to be cleared, leading customers to having, say, a significant ‑‑ receiving a significant bill in July, because the plan has fallen behind because of volatility in prices or that there is a significant refund.


So the company, as it approaches each quarter, will look to see what the impact of the PGVA reference price change or the QRAM application would have on the anticipated bills for customers, and, if it was determined that it was a significant enough impact, would adjust the budget billing plan amount for those customers.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So even though ‑‑ and I am on the budget billing plan.  Even though I might think that my February bill and my March bill are going to be the same, I am at risk of facing an unanticipated increased bill, even though I am on what used to be called the equal billing plan?


MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.  Under the budget billing plan, there is the potential for volatility to be experienced on the -- throughout the term.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  You have identified two reasons in the paragraph for that.  One would be natural gas usage increase or change in the price.


With respect to change in the price, to the extent that risk management minimizes price volatility, does that also reduce the likelihood that there will be a revision to my budget billing plan amount?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  To the extent that the risk management addresses volatility, it does have the potential to mitigate the need for that change.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, sticking with the budget billing plan, we asked an interrogatory, my 24, schedule 39.  I don't think it needs to be turned up.  Basically, we asked about the preconditions for entering into budget billing plan.


And if I read the answer properly, it talks about, generically, when you can get on and if you don't get on in time - for example, if you don't apply for it before the end of February - you would be placed in line and you would get back on in September.  That is some sort of a basic precondition for getting on for anybody; right?


MR. IRANI:  That's right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  It also talks about the fact that there is no security deposit required.


I have been under the impression, and perhaps you can clarify this, that there are customers who, for various reasons, one of which may include their credit history with the company, would be prevented from entering on to the budget billing plan, in any event, no matter when they applied.


MR. IRANI:  That is not true.  A customer, if he is on gas and he's being billed, it doesn't preclude him from getting on the budget billing plan.


The fact that there might be other conditions where the customer would have to maybe pay a deposit still does not preclude the customer from getting on to the budget billing plan.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right, thank you.


Now sort of a high-level question.  The risk management program is designed to reduce volatility.  That is at least one, if not its main, objective?


MR. CHARLESON:  That is correct.  That is the principal objective of the program.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Which presupposes that there is volatility in the pricing?


MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  You can't reduce volatility unless there is volatility to be reduced?


MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.  If there were no volatility -- and again, if the volatility is such that it falls within the threshold established for the program, the company will not undertake any risk management activities.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  So to the extent that the company or intervenors seek to establish the effectiveness of the risk management program, we always go historically to look at how it is reduced volatility in the past, is really the only way to judge whether it is having any effect.  Is that fair?  


MR. CHARLESON:  That seems fair.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Buonaguro, is your microphone behind the computer or is it right in front of you?  


MR. BUONAGURO:  It is directly in front of me. 


MR. VLAHOS:  I am seeing from staff that they are having difficulty hearing you and I am sure there may be others in the room. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  I will try to speak up.  Is that better?  


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  I feel like I am shouting at you now, and this is the friendly cross.  


So in terms of evaluating whether or not risk management has been effective, we are sort of stuck with historical price volatility in an attempt to reduce the volatility, which leaves open the question of whether there is a potential for a measure or an incidence of price volatility or sustained volatility in the future which risk management would be in place to avoid.  Is that...


MR. CHARLESON:  Sorry, perhaps you can rephrase. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  When we evaluate the effect of risk management, we always look to the past.  But there may be a future, as yet unexperienced period or incident of a price volatility, that risk management may have a greater impact on.  


So for example, in my mind, the worst-case scenario and the reason why we would have risk management in the first place, is that if in the coldest months of the winter, the price went up by 50 percent or 100 percent or 200 percent, and stayed there or near there for an extended period of time, and as I read the evidence in terms of what's happened in the past, that actually hasn't happened or anything like it has happened but if it were to happen, the effect that risk management would be -- the effect of risk management would be more pronounced, in terms of its ability to smooth or its intent to smooth the impact of such a period of volatility.  


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that is correct.  And I would say we have had periods of time where that has happened.  It dates back to a period prior to the, say, the time horizon captured within the evidence.  But if we think back to the winter of 2000, 2001 there was a dramatic run-up in prices as we went into that winter, and the risk management activities at that time did have a dramatic impact, in terms of smoothing the volatility.  


Similarly, in the past year we have seen that -- we have seen the converse where there was a dramatic decline in prices over the past year, which led -- again, risk management smoothed the decline; unfortunately it has a negative impact in terms of commodity costs, but again, in terms of the program it was achieving its objective in terms of smoothing the volatility being experienced by customers.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, sir.  Anyone else in support?  


MR. DeROSE:  Mr. Chairman, Vince DeRose for IGUA.  IGUA does seek some clarifications.  I don't know whether you would classify us as "in support" or not.  But we do have some clarifications -- we do have some clarifications.
MR. QUESNELLE:  I think your mike was on before now Mr. DeVellis.  


MR. DeROSE:  Now is it on?  


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.  


MR. DeROSE:  So unless anyone would like to go ahead of me, I would propose to go ahead.  Is that fine?  Okay, thank you.  


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DeROSE:


MR. DeROSE:  Mr. Charleson, I will talk into the mike so I am not actually going to be looking you in the eyes as I ask the questions.  I think I need binoculars from back here in any event.  First of all, would you confirm for the record that your risk management program applies only to system gas and not direct purchase.  


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.  


MR. DeROSE:  I take it that no costs would be passed on to direct purchase customers for your risk management program?  


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.  


MR. DeROSE:  And your risk management program, it is applicable to all customers that are on system gas; correct?  


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  


MR. DeROSE:  And so when you talked with Mr. Buonaguro earlier about the benefits to residential and small commercial customers, which I would presume are in rates 1 and 6, your risk management program does affect customers other than those two rate classes?  


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, it would affect all rate classes in which a customer chooses to be on system gas.  


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Can you confirm that -- you do have customers in rates 100 or higher that are on system gas; correct? 


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, we do.  


MR. DeROSE:  Again, to Mr. Buonaguro, you indicated that some of the benefits of risk management for residential and small commercial, because you counterposed that to larger customers who would engage in their own risk management programs; correct?  


MR. CHARLESON:  I think we pointed to the risk management program as being consistent with activities that some large industrial customers may undertake themselves.  


However, the benefit of the program, as well, would be some of our large customers aren't necessarily sophisticated buyers of gas, choose to be on system gas, and this way, also, benefit from the volatility management of the risk management program offers.  


MR. DeROSE:  Can you describe what steps you have taken to educate those large-volume customers that choose to be on system gas so that they know that you are undertaking risk management on their behalf, so that they do not need to go out and do it for themselves.  


MR. CHARLESON:  I am not aware of any specific activities that we have taken to educate those customers on risk management, beyond the degree that gets examined within these proceedings.  


MR. DeROSE:  Now, you say you aren't aware.  Are you sure that you haven't?  Or would you like an undertaking to go back and check?  


MR. CHARLESON:  I can take an undertaking to check within our shop.  


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  


MR. MILLAR:  What will be Undertaking J2.1.  


UNDERTAKING NO. J2.1:  advise what steps, if any, 


have been taken by EGD to educate customers in 


rates 100 or higher about the company's risk 


management program and the necessity, if any, for 


those customers to undertake their own risk management


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I would like to implement the practice to the extent it hasn’t been done in the past of the party seeking the undertaking to give a clear one-liner on exactly what it is to assist the court reporter because she has to summarize these undertakings. 


MR. DeROSE:  I'm sorry, Mr. Millar, I missed the reference.  


MR. MILLAR:  J2.1.  


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.  For the record, if Mr. Charleson could advise what steps, if any, have been taken by EGD to educate large volume customers, we should say customers in rates 100 or higher, about the company's risk management program and the necessity, if any, for those customers to undertake their own risk management.  


Thank you.  Now, Mr. Charleson, if you ended the risk management program today, that would not affect the gas supply; correct?  


MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.  


MR. DeROSE:  Because as I understand it your risk management program is done through financial instruments.  It is not risk management for access to supply?  


MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.  


MR. DeROSE:  And am I right that system gas price volatility has no impact on Enbridge Gas Distribution's net income?  


MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.  All of our system gas is a pass-through cost to customers.  The company does not make any money on commodity.  So it is completely independent of any earnings for Enbridge.  


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So is it fair to say that system gas price volatility only affects ratepayers; the benefit and burden is on the ratepayers, not on the shareholder?  


MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.  The risk management activities are undertaken solely for the benefit of ratepayers.  


MR. DeROSE:  Are there any benefits to EGD's shareholder, arising out of risk management program?  


MR. CHARLESON:  None that I am aware of.  


MR. DeROSE:  Now presumably the parties that provide the financial mechanisms or instruments would also benefit from your risk management program.  Is that fair?  


MR. CHARLESON:  I would assume that they benefit from it, because they're in the business of offering those instruments.  So I presume that they are able to do that profitably.  


MR. DeROSE:  Mr. Charleson, are you able to advise whether you obtained the financial instruments or mechanisms for your risk management program from any affiliates or related companies?


MR. CHARLESON:  I don't believe we do, but I can undertake to confirm that.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.


MR. MILLAR:  J2.2.


UNDERTAKING NO. J2.2:  ADVISE WHETHER EGDI OBTAINS 


FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS OR MECHANISMS FOR RISK 


MANAGEMENT PROGRAM FROM ANY AFFILIATES OR RELATED 


COMPANIES.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. DeRose ‑‑


MR. DeROSE:  To advise whether EGD obtains any of the financial instruments related to its risk management program from any affiliates or related companies.


Subject to any questions arising out of that last undertaking, those are my questions.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.  Mr. Adams?


MR. MATTHEWS:  I wonder if I might ask a few questions.


MR. KAISER:  Yes, certainly.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Matthews, could you turn on your mike?


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MATTHEWS:

MR. MATTHEWS:  Are the costs associated with risk management part of system gas costs?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, they are.


MR. MATTHEWS:  So to the extent they are, would they be part of that system gas cost review that you were talking about earlier?


MR. CHARLESON:  I would anticipate that the system gas cost review would look at all ‑‑ at all of the elements of costs that are allocated to system gas.  So I would say, yes.


MR. MATTHEWS:  And the degree that we change prices - let's say we went from a quarterly adjustment to a monthly adjustment - and had an MRAM instead of a QRAM, would that change the need for risk management?  Would that reduce the volatility that you have to manage?


MR. CHARLESON:  No.  I don't see that having any impact in that way, because you still have the overall price volatility that is happening in the physical supply that you are acquiring.


The QRAM and, you know, as you have phrased it MRAM, if it were to be instituted ‑ although the Board in the Natural Gas Forum report didn't believe that was necessary ‑ was ‑‑ is strictly the recovery mechanism behind those costs, but it doesn't change, say, the way that the overall supply portfolio is being managed.


MR. MATTHEWS:  Wouldn't it change the amount that is in the variance account, the shorter the period?


MR. CHARLESON:  I suppose it has the potential to change the magnitude of the PGVA or kind of the assessment of it, but, again, the PGVA is driven more so by the volatility in the forward 12-month prices.  So, again, at any point in time, whether it be on a quarterly basis or a monthly basis, there could be a dramatic swing, in terms of price expectations, on that 12‑month horizon.


MR. MATTHEWS:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Adams.  


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. ADAMS:

MR. ADAMS:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


We also have a package of documents that simply draw upon the records in this proceeding, but for simplicity of reference, we thought it would be an advantage to have them distributed.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, this will be Exhibit K2.4, the Energy Probe compendium of documents.


EXHIBIT NO. K2.4:  ENERGY PROBE COMPENDIUM OF DOCUMENTS, ENTITLED "CROSS-EXAMINATION MATERIAL ON RISK MANAGEMENT, ENERGY PROBE RESEARCH FOUNDATION, JANUARY, 2007" 

MR. KAISER:  Thank you for providing this, Mr. Adams.  It is helpful.


MR. ADAMS:  Just by way of introduction, the material that is contained there includes the extract from the Board's decision in the 005‑0001 case, an extract from Enbridge's argument in‑chief in that case, some transcript references from last year's hearing, and interrogatory responses from Enbridge to Energy Probe, and one page from the evidence that Energy Probe has filed in this proceeding.


Unfortunately, our pagination after page 37 gets a little messed up, but the page numbers I am going to be referring to are handwritten at the top of the page in large bold numbers.


The first material that I will be getting to will be the Enbridge Exhibit D1, tab 4, schedule 3.  I will also be looking at page 6 from that package, which is an extract from the Board decision.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Adams, what page is that on your paging of the document you submitted?


MR. ADAMS:  It is our paging number 6.


MR. VLAHOS:  Six, thank you.


MR. ADAMS:  And it is page 30 from the Board decision in the last case, the last Enbridge case.


Just before I get there, I want to just clean up one little item that arose in Mr. Buonaguro's discussion with the witness panel.  


Mr. Buonaguro gave an example where there might be an adjustment in the budget billing plan in March, I believe.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.  It could happen in March.  It could happen in January.


MR. ADAMS:  When was the last time you changed it -- you made an adjustment like that for all of the customers across the budget billing plan during the winter?


MR. CHARLESON:  We did one in January of last year.


MR. ADAMS:  In the normal instance, these adjustments usually fall in the summer months, July and August?


MR. CHARLESON:  During the summer months, what we would be doing there, the July month is obviously where the year end true-up occurs.  August is the actual billing of actual gas consumption in the month, and then in September we would establish the new budget billing plan amount for the coming year.


The changes that we are referring to may occur the following September at any time, but would typically be associated with when a QRAM price change would be occurring.


MR. ADAMS:  Thank you.  Mr. Charleson, in the first paragraph of your evidence on this matter, you state that the evidence is specifically addressed to concerns expressed by the Board in the last rates case and those regarding the continuation of the program and whether it has a material effect on price volatility that customers experience.


In our cross‑examination, the Energy Probe Research Foundation will present ‑‑ addresses your evidence in this matter.  We want to examine how successful Enbridge has been in meeting the tests set out for it by the Board in that decision.  


So I would like to turn to the first page of your evidence, which quotes from the Board from paragraph 5.5.10, and here the Board put what we consider a test to you, and that is ‑‑ I will just read it:   

"The question that remains is the extent to which Enbridge's risk management program is redundant or represents a useful and cost‑effective tool to reduce consumer price volatility in a fair and reasonable way." 


Just stopping there.  Would you agree with me that the Board's attention here, in its decision, was addressed to the impact of risk management on consumers, not on the company's portfolio of gas purchases?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would agree with that, and I think if you look to the next paragraph of our evidence there, where -- it is the following excerpt from the decision, where the Board did make it clear that no evidence had been provided that demonstrates whether the hedging activity had a material effect on the volatility experienced by customers.  


So, yes, I would agree with you.


MR. ADAMS:  We will get there in a minute, but let me just turn to the Board's decision.  There is one sentence that appeared in the decision between the two sentences that you quoted here.


Then the next sentence is:

"The company provided evidence which seemed to show that its hedging activity smoothed its -- that is an underlined its, emphasis of the Board, experience of commodity price fluctuations."  

We took that sentence to speak directly to the kind of evidence that you were presenting in your evidence-in-chief.  In your evidence-in-chief, you presented a recapitulation like you have done many times before in these proceedings about the impact of risk management on your portfolio.  


And criticized our presentation of impacts of risk management on the consumer price.  And you -- in your evidence-in-chief, you are relying, again, on the assertion that its impact on you that matters, not the impact on the customer that matters.  


When I read the Board's decision, the Board recognized last year that risk management can have an effect on you.  The question is:  What is the impact it is having on consumers?  So why are you persisting in this approach of focussing on the impact on you, rather than the impact on consumers as you have in your evidence-in-chief?  


MR. CHARLESON:  I guess I am at a bit of a loss right now, Mr. Adams, in terms of how you perceive that our evidence-in-chief was looking at the impact on us.  


In both cases, the two tables that we have reproduced in Exhibit K2.1 both reflect comparison of the PGVA reference price with and without risk management activities.  


The sole difference that I was trying to identify within our evidence-in-chief is what we believe is a more appropriate means of looking at the volatility experienced by consumers.  So we have tried to address, directly, that item that the Board had directed us to.  Now, the -- our evidence in the past, prior to this proceeding, had been more focussed on just the true, you know, more the standard deviation and the volatility of the portfolio, and hadn't necessarily targeted the impact on customers because it was a matter that hadn't been put before the company at that time.  


In this proceeding, we have taken the Board's direction and have gone and looked at what the impact is on consumers using the PGVA reference price as the most appropriate means of identifying what translates through to an impact to consumers.  


So I guess I am struggling a bit with your question, Mr. Adams, or the struggle that you are having with our perspective on this when we are both looking at comparisons of the PGVA reference price.  


MR. ADAMS:  Let's see if we can take this in pieces.  Would you agree that the first test here is that -- to examine whether or not there is redundancy by looking at the impact on consumer -- on consumer prices.  That seems clear.  


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  Now, the consumers that we are mostly talking about, and I am sensitive to the point raised by representative for IGUA in this proceeding, that there are some large-volume customers.  But it is in the main we are talking about small-volume customer, general service customers here. 


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would agree with that.  


MR. ADAMS:  And that would be customers of all income groups.  It's some kind of a slice through our society really; it is the customers that are not on direct purchase and the customers that are not on budget billing that are most affected, would have the most impact from your risk management program visible on their bill.  


Would you agree with that?  


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  


MR. ADAMS:  You made a point in your evidence-in-chief that it was the low-income customers that have most at stake in this debate.  


Do you have any new quantitative information to provide to the Board with respect to the income level associated with opinions of customers on this matter?  Or are you relying on previous evidence like -- 


MR. CHARLESON:  We would be relying on the previous evidence.  


MR. ADAMS:  So if we have any arguments related to that interpretation, we can -- you wouldn't object to us drawing upon the previous survey?  


MR. CHARLESON:  No.  The previous survey still stands.  


MR. ADAMS:  Okay, thank you.  


Now, the Board was interested in this question of whether risk management is cost-effective and that was -- you repeated that part in a paragraph of your evidence.  


The microphones really work when you put stuff on them.  


Now, I take the first question of the Board to be kind of an either/or proposition.  It is either useful and cost-effective, or redundant.  So if it falls in the redundant category, the thing is overboard.  The decision of the Board would have to be to pitch it; right?  


You have to -- you have the onus of demonstrating that this is useful and cost-effective, otherwise there is no justification for this program.  


MR. CHARLESON:  That would appear to be the direction the Board has given.  


MR. ADAMS:  Okay, yes.  Now, in paragraph 3 of your evidence, you repeat the next sentence from this paragraph we have been working through:   

"No evidence has been provided that demonstrates whether the hedging activity had a material effect on the volatility experienced by consumers, given the effect of QRAM, the PGVA and equal billing programs over the same period." 


First of all, we are talking about the same group of customers that we have been talking about all along here:   Primarily residential and small volume, general service customers.  


Now, in the next paragraph, 5.5.11 of the Decision, the Board gave Enbridge direction to prepare evidence for this hearing.  So the Board directed Enbridge to prepare, in this case, evidence which demonstrates the extent to which the company's hedging activities in the most recent three years would have resulted in reductions in volatility for its customers, had it applied the $75 action level.  


Last year you introduced the $75 action level specifically to reduce the number of transactions you conducted relative to the number of transactions required under the $35 action levels.  Is that a fair summarization? 


MR. CHARLESON:  I don't know if I would say it was in terms of transactions, but it was to reduce the proportion of time that we would be in a hedgeable position.  So -- which we, in turn, expected to reduce the number of transactions.  


MR. ADAMS:  When we look through your prefiled evidence, we didn't see the calculation that the Board asked for in paragraph 5.5.11.  Right?  


MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.  However, if you look at page 9 of Exhibit D1, tab 4, schedule 3, starting at paragraph 23, the company did provide an explanation as to what would be involved in trying to recreate that history, the challenges that that would entail, and the potential success that we may have in being able to do that.


As a result, because of the difficulties and the likelihood the outcome would be questionable, at best, the company believed it wasn't something that could ‑‑ was possible to do.  So we tried to ‑‑ we recognized the direction from the Board in the decision, and we addressed that direction by providing information to the Board, in terms of the challenges that that would create and the problems that you would have in terms of any results that you may be able to arrive at.


MR. ADAMS:  Now, since you made the change from the 35 ‑‑ the Board approved the change from $35 to $75, how has it affected your operations?


MR. CHARLESON:  There have been some instances where now we ‑‑ where we were not in a hedgeable position at the $75 level where we would have been in a hedgeable position at the $35 level.  It has been limited, in terms of there, but there has been some instances, more tail end of the last summer, where that ‑‑ where the new threshold kept us out of a hedgeable position.


MR. ADAMS:  So had the Board not approved the change, had you continued with the previous practice, you would have had a somewhat greater number of transactions?


MR. CHARLESON:  Correct.


MR. ADAMS:  So the impact has been to reduce the number of transactions?  Has that ‑‑ had the $35 level remained, would the volatility of changes in the PGVA been greater or lesser, based on your experience in the previous years?


MR. CHARLESON:  Based on my experience in the previous years, I would say there would have been ‑‑ there would have been a greater impact on, say, the reduction in volatility at the $35 level, because you would have hedged more of your portfolio.  


It is difficult to give a firm answer, because the hedge transactions that we would be ‑‑ would have been entering into at that time would have spanned through this winter.  So until the end of this winter, we won't have a true assessment of what the impact on volatility has been from those transactions.


MR. ADAMS:  But at least directionally, we can see that with fewer transactions taking place, the likely impact is a somewhat lesser impact on volatility by moving to the $75?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  And that was -- part of the drive in moving to the $75 threshold was to reduce the level of risk management activity that was going on.  The customer survey that we undertook -- in the customer survey that we undertook, customers indicated they were willing to accept a higher threshold or a higher degree of volatility in their gas bills.


So just by the nature of raising that threshold, yes, it means that there is the potential for some ‑‑ for a higher degree of volatility to be experienced.


MR. ADAMS:  Do I understand correctly that Enbridge has retained a record of every risk management transaction since the program's inception?


MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.


MR. ADAMS:  So at every point during 2003, 2004 and 2005, when any financial hedging that would have been called for under the $75 action level was reached, the company would have already been in an action level for the $35 volatility tolerance band; right?  


If it got to 75, you have passed through 35?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. ADAMS:  So looking back at your transactions from 2003, 2004 and 2005, it would be necessary, if you were going to follow the Board's direction, to erase those instances or the impact of those instances that would not have been needed at the $75 level and to reduce those that would still have been needed to a lesser degree; right?


MR. CHARLESON:  Unfortunately, it is not as simplistic as that.


The difficulty that you run into, as soon as you bypass that first transaction where you weren't in a hedgeable position at the $35, you change your whole portfolio mix.  You have changed the volatility that is going to be happening in the portfolio, and you are now managing a different portfolio going forward.


So from that point forward, when you may pierce the $75 threshold may now be completely different from the next time you pierce the $35 threshold, and that is where we get into the situation where you would really have to go back and rerun.  


And I would agree with Mr. Adams that at least in that first instance, when you hit that $35, you can look to see whether you would have been at 75 or not so you could -- say you managed to go 20 days into the year before you were in a hedgeable position, you could not have to rerun those 20 days.  But as soon as you ignore that first signal or bypass that first signal because you haven't pierced the threshold, from that point forward it is a different portfolio and you really have to look on a day-by-day basis, Are you hedgeable and, if you are, what action would you take?  


And you are managing ‑‑ the two paths diverge very quickly, and that is what created the issue for us and the challenge, in terms of trying to recreate that history, because in doing so, as well, to get a true sense of what the hedge instruments would look like, what the cost of those hedging instruments would be, you would have to get expertise from a financial institution to work with you to let you know what the pricing would have looked like three years ago for a hedge on a particular day given -- recreating market conditions.  That we did not see as being a feasible activity.


MR. ADAMS:  However, in 2006 -- let's leave aside 2003, 2004, 2005 where you didn't have this direction from the Board.  Your records were not designed in the way that the Board has asked you to analyze.  


But in 2006, you had specific direction from the Board.  You received this decision from them.  You have been conducting transactions under the new model or under the new action levels.  You have had an opportunity since that decision, up until this point, to make a stab at responding to the Board's direction in this case, but you haven't done that.  I don't understand why.


MR. CHARLESON:  Well, I think you would still find ‑- you would still have the same difficulty.  Even if you started from the time we received the decision that enabled us to increase the threshold, from that point forward you would effectively have to be running two risk-managed portfolios, one theoretical portfolio at the lower threshold, and, again, when it became hedgeable, you would have to go out and get quotes from the financial markets in terms of what they would look like.  You would have to simulate the execution of those and continue to manage that portfolio while you also managed the real portfolio at the $75 threshold.


Again, it creates challenges.  Any time you are into managing a theoretical portfolio with, you know, simulated risk management transactions, one, it creates a lot of incremental effort.  It creates a heavy dependence on external parties for providing information that you can manage in there, knowing well that the transactions aren't going to execute, and we just saw that as being problematic.


MR. ADAMS:  Well, at least we know directionally what the impact of the change has been.


MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.


MR. ADAMS:  It has added probably, to a slight extent, volatility in your QRAMs?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  Within the threshold level that customers have indicated they were willing to accept.


MR. ADAMS:  Let me address another topic.


The Board asked Enbridge to demonstrate, in this proceeding, that its risk management program, on its own or by itself, has a material effect on the volatility experienced by customers.


By "this", I take it you agree with me the Board's emphasis here is on the small-volume general service customers.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MR. ADAMS:  On table 1 of page 6 of your evidence, which is the same one you passed out in your ‑‑ I'm sorry, no.


It is table 1, page 6.  You have updated the risk management impact on the price volatility of the customer ‑‑ of the company's gas supply portfolio.


This table does not demonstrate any material effect experienced by small-volume customers, does it?  

     MR. CHARLESON:  No, it doesn't.  

     MR. ADAMS:  It is really, what you present here is a 

mathematical construct comparing two standard deviations.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct, which is consistent with the way that we had historically demonstrated the effectiveness of the program, by looking at the reduction in volatility.  But it is done through mathematical constructs looking at the standard deviations of a hedged and unhedged portfolio.  But I would agree in terms of:  Does is it demonstrate how that would translate through to customers?  No, it doesn't.  That is what led us to also include table 2 in our evidence which is on page 7.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  We will get to table 2 in a second.  

But based on your polling information, your knowledge of your customers, would you have even a guess at how many of your customers would be able to distinguish between standard deviations versus other types of statistical analysis?  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Given that I have a math degree and I have a hard time understanding it, I would say it is probably a very small number. 

     MR. ADAMS:  So this is a pretty abstract form of analysis that you have in table 1?  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  But it is a measure that is 

statistically and mathematically valid.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Let me try to get at this question of what is material.  Would you agree with me that for an effect on 

volatility experienced by consumers to be considered material, it would have to have an effect on consumers that they would notice.  Is that a reasonable way of getting our arms around this notion of materiality?  

     If you can't notice an impact, then it is pretty hard to claim that that is material.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  I would tend to agree with that, but I would have to rely on the Board to apply what it deems to be an appropriate definition of "material."  

     MR. ADAMS:  When we are talking about this issue of 

commodity prices consumers are experiencing, for the purposes of my questions I am going to be dealing with this notion of materiality on the basis of an effect that customers would notice.  And that is kind of background for my questions.  

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Adams, would this be a convenient time to take a lunch break?  

     MR. ADAMS:  A terrific time.  Thank you, sir.  

     MR. KAISER:  We will come back in one hour.  

     --- Luncheon recess taken at 12:04 p.m.


‑‑‑ Upon resuming at 1:01 p.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


Mr. Adams.


MR. ADAMS:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Witnesses, at the break we ‑‑ just before the break, we had gone through your table 1 in your Exhibit that presented the mathematical construct comparing standard deviations.


Mr. Charleson, when we were talking about consumer impacts, you had referred us over to table 2, so I will turn you over to your table 2.  It is page 7 of your evidence.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I have that.


MR. ADAMS:  So this is your presentation of the consumer impacts?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MR. ADAMS:  Now, as I read the table here, what you are doing, the variances that you are comparing there ‑‑ or the net variance that you calculate in the extreme right-hand side of that table, if I understand what you have done here is you've subtracted the ‑‑ you have identified the variance in the hedged and unhedged portfolios, quarter over quarter, and then compared those differences?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  As I indicated this morning, what we have done is we've looked at the extent of the price change in the PGVA reference price between the two quarters, as we felt that was the proper indicator in terms of the volatility a customer would experience.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  Now we are getting right to the centre of our ‑‑ the dispute between us here.


We looked at that table and concluded that it would be very difficult for a consumer to look at your table 2 and understand what the impact was on their bill.  You would agree with me there is no way you can look at this table and figure out a bill impact?


MR. CHARLESON:  I think I would disagree with that, given that the PGVA reference price here is being quoted in terms of 103 m3.  So if you wanted to look at, say, the underlying change per cubic metre, you would basically divide that price by 1,000, which would be, say ‑‑ which would be representative of a commodity cost per cubic metre.  


Now, that would not equate to, say, the resulting QRAM commodity cost, because there are other transportation components and some other costs that get allocated to system gas, but it would at least tell you, on a per cubic metre basis, what type of change is occurring.


MR. ADAMS:  No, it wouldn't.  It would tell you the difference in the quarter-over-quarter unhedged versus hedged.  That is all it tells you.  That is not a bill impact.


MR. CHARLESON:  If you look, the bill impact ‑‑ if you look -- and, again, perhaps for simplicity sake, let's look at the risk-managed price changes.


If you look at -- so the first column has a PGVA reference price, dollars per 103 m3, so divide that by 1,000.  You would have the price per cubic metre.  The next column is the quarterly price change.


 So, again, per 103 m3, so you divide that number by 1,000.  That is the impact on the commodity cost on the bill.


So if we look again, as the example I used earlier this morning, of the April 2002 price change where we see a quarterly price change of $26.94, and, you know, what you would be looking at there is the commodity impact of that.  If my math is correct, I think would be about 0.3 cents a cubic metre.  


So I would hesitate to say that it is pretty clear.


MR. ADAMS:  Energy Probe attempted to use this same raw information and calculate it on a way that a customer could understand.  We did that in our table 1 from our evidence.


You presented that in your exhibit this morning, Exhibit K2.1.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MR. ADAMS:  What we have done here is simply look at the ‑‑ provide the ‑‑ we just drew the PGVA unhedged and hedged reference prices off of your chart, and then calculated the difference in price in terms of absolute dollars per 1,000 cubic metres, and then looked at that as a percentage.


Subject to check, you don't have any disagreement with the math here or the process?


MR. CHARLESON:  No, I don't have any disagreement with the math or the process.  What your table shows is the difference in the price that the customer would experience after the QRAM, the differential between the hedged or unhedged.  


What it is not showing, and the point that I was trying to make earlier this morning, is the difference in the volatility the customer experiences over the quarter-over-quarter change, and that, in my understanding of the Board's direction from the 2006 rate case, was for the company to provide a means of demonstrating how the volatility that a customer experienced is visible to consumers.


When you compare two prices at the same point in time, it is not going to give an indication of the volatility or the extent of the price change that a customer experiences.  All it is showing is the difference between the two possible prices they could have had.


MR. ADAMS:  What we have presented here in our table 1 is just a straight-ahead impact assessment of the role of risk management, what risk management has done to the consumer's bill.  And what we conclude, from looking at this, is that with the exception of one year ‑‑ or one quarter, some years ago, the impact has been a 1 percent change, or less, a very hard-to-notice difference unhedged versus hedged.


MR. CHARLESON:  In terms of the quarterly price, yes, I would agree.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  We attempted to review this matter in another way with our interrogatory 21, which, in our package of documents, is the page 50.


Now, the pagination isn't sequential after number 37, so you have to kind of dig through the package towards the back.  We apologize for the pagination, sir.


Here we've got -- the question asked:  For a customer using an average volume of gas, what has been the average bill impact for risk management over the last period?


Some figures are presented there.  The first thing I would ask you to agree with me is, first of all, the bill impact of risk management is never 1 percent or less of the customer's bill ‑‑ I'm sorry, 1 percent or more of the customer's bill?


MR. CHARLESON:  On an annual basis, I would agree.


MR. ADAMS:  In four out of the five years presented, the impact on the customer bill has been to ‑‑ risk management has increased customer cost?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct, in the years that are shown in this table.


MR. ADAMS:  Now, the next item I want to turn you to is Energy Probe's interrogatory 18.  It is ‑‑ as the crazy numbering goes in this package, it is the last interrogatory that is included in the package.  So just the last five pages of the bundle.  Here we attempted to have a look at the impact of risk management for a customer that is taking gas under the budget billing plan previously known as the equal billing plan.  And the company appeared to have some difficulty calculating this.  


If I can take you to page 4 of 5.  Here you provided a revised answer, that provides the -- in response to our request to look at the percentage reduction in volatility due to risk management for a customer under budget billing.  There is no reply.  


MR. CHARLESON:  Sorry, the response that I have in front of me has a table that's been completed.  


MR. ADAMS:  We asked for the percentage reduction in volatility. 


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  


MR. ADAMS:  And there is no percentage reduction in volatility, is that what you read. 


MR. CHARLESON:  When you have two numbers that are identical, then the percentage reduction is zero.  


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  So the way of understanding this information is that risk management for a customer on budget billing does not change their volatility.  


MR. CHARLESON:  It does not change the price that they pay for commodity.  So therefore there is no difference between the equal billing price per 273 cubic metres, whether they're on the budget billing plan or whether they're not on the budget billing program.  The commodity cost is the same. 


The budget billing plan just changes the timing of when that amount may be paid, but the underlying commodity cost is the same.  


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  Now, Energy Probe, in our evidence at paragraph 14 presented a table.  We made an error in the calculation of the table.  I think Enbridge identified the error for us and we corrected and refiled.  The refiled version is reflected in the package of materials at page 37.  


Here was our effort to identify the impact of risk management on the PGVA price.  In this instance, we didn't find any examples where the impact on the -- of risk management on the PGVA price between 2002 and 2006 inclusive exceeded 0.76 percent, the average was 0.26 percent.  Is that consistent with your understanding, the impact?  


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  I would agree that the way this table has been calculated is -- correctly depicts the annual impact.  


However, again I think it is important to remember what it is that the Board asked the company to look at.  And if we go back to paragraph 3 of the company's evidence at Exhibit D1, tab 4, schedule 3, with the excerpt from the Board's decision, the concern was that no evidence has been provided that demonstrates the -- whether it there would be a material effect on the volatility experienced by customers.  And that is not done by looking at the PGVA reference price.  You have to look at the changes in PGVA reference price that occur within a year, and to the extent those have been muted by the risk management activities, and that is, again, what we have tried to demonstrate in the table that we have reproduced this morning on page 1 of Exhibit K2.1.  


MR. ADAMS:  Mr. Charleson, that wouldn't apply for a customer on budget billing; right?  


MR. CHARLESON:  It would still apply for a customer on budget billing because that is still the commodity price that they were going to be paying.  It is just a matter of the timing of when they pay it.  


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  Will you agree that risk management is not changing the -- not expected over the long-term to change the ultimate cost the customer pays, just the timing; right?  The customer is going to pay the gas bill eventually.  


MR. CHARLESON:  That's right.  But I think you said risk management.  I think you meant the budget billing plan. 


MR. ADAMS:  Risk management or budget billing plan.  They both have the same effect.  The customer is paying the same underlying costs, it’s just the timing of the payments is adjusted by both risk management and budget billing.  


MR. CHARLESON:  If, by -- if by the timing on risk management you are talking about, that the longer term expectation for risk management say over a ten-year horizon is the -- that you would expect risk management to say break even, then, yes, I would agree and I am assuming that is the premise that you are putting forward.  


MR. ADAMS:  Now, that is an important point.  I wonder if I can turn you to your own argument in-chief from last year, at page 11 of our package.  


In the argument in-chief, the company appeared to take credit for a financial benefit conferred upon customers by virtue of the risk management program.  In the second-last sentence:

“Moreover, while it is not the goal of the company's Risk Management Program, in the years from 1996 to 2004, the overall reduction in gas purchase costs as a result of the Program, which is directly passed on to customers, was $59.1 million." 


Then you conclude that this certainly does not represent a cost burden to ratepayers.  Now, can you update us on -- there was -- can you update us on the current position of the risk management program?  


In the evidence, there was an interrogatory response indicating that the program was currently -- or looked from 2002 to 2006 under water by about $110 million.  What is the current position?  


MR. CHARLESON:  As at the end of 2006, basically the table, the table that you had reproduced in your evidence and that we talked to just a few minutes ago, table 2, which showed in that position of negative $107 million is reflective of kind of the year-end position or generally reflective of the year-end position at the end of 2006.
 Now, what this is not factoring in is what happened in 2001, where there was a large benefit to ratepayers in that year.  However, we would still be looking at the overall position when you combined all of that together, that it would be negative for ratepayers, probably to the tune of maybe -- about $40 million.  


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  Let's just go back to, in the package, page 37, our table 2.  


MR. CHARLESON:  Hmm-hmm.  


MR. ADAMS:  In 2006, as of November, the figure there was under water by $110 million.  


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  But recognizing that is only looking at the period 2002 to 2006.  Not from when the program started.  


MR. ADAMS:  I'm sorry, that is just an annual amount, right, the position in that particular year?  


MR. CHARLESON:  Oh, the -- for 2006, the 110 million, yes, that's correct. 


MR. ADAMS:  So that is as of November.  Take us to December of 2006, what is it?  


MR. CHARLESON:  It was approximately $110.5.  So it is generally in the $110 million range.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  So you track this on a monthly basis or something?


MR. CHARLESON:  We update it on a monthly basis, yes.


MR. ADAMS:  So we don't know now where you currently are as of 2007?


MR. CHARLESON:  For 2007, the current position is roughly negative $15, negative $16 million.


MR. ADAMS:  Right.


MR. CHARLESON:  We are able to do that because, again, the hedges that we put on in the fall run for a period of time.  So we've already got a projected impact of those hedges, given current market prices for the kind of -- say, the remainder of the winter season, plus some of the summer hedges we've already got on.


MR. ADAMS:  So that loss of ‑‑ what did you say?


MR. CHARLESON:  Fifteen to 16 million.


MR. ADAMS:  Fifteen to 16.  So that is for the first three weeks or so?


MR. CHARLESON:  That is based on the annualized impact of all the hedge instruments we have in place for 2007 that are currently in place versus the current PGVA or the future ‑‑ the futures prices in the months of those hedges are running through.  So it is a forward-looking calculation based on the ‑- if they were settled based on current future prices in each of the months that the hedge is in place.  


So that position could swing dramatically before it -- you know, before the hedge is complete, depending on what happens with market prices.


MR. ADAMS:  Suffice it to say we're in a different position than we were when you were filing your argument-in-chief last year?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would agree.  There was some -- you know, fortunately for consumers there were some dramatic price drops in natural gas prices through last winter, and while the hedges that we had ended up being significantly out of the money, consumers still benefitted because -- from the unhedged portion declining.


MR. ADAMS:  But on the hedged portion, customers are picking up extra, because of the risk management, in this last year.


MR. CHARLESON:  I would agree.


MR. ADAMS:  Yes, okay.  Now, just two last areas I want to cover with you.  One is this difference between us of opinion as to whether equal billing or budget billing can be considered relevant to comparison with the smoothing effects provided by risk management.


Let me see if I can take this in pieces.  First of all, both risk management and equal billing are not designed to increase or decrease the price that the system gas customer pays for a commodity; right?  In that sense, they're identical?


MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.  The budget billing plan is strictly a payment mechanism related to the commodity costs, and the objective of the risk management program is not to try to lower prices or raise prices.  It is to try to reduce volatility.


MR. ADAMS:  Now, calculated on a cost per year for a typical system gas customer, the overhead costs associated with risk management, capital and operating, dilute down to a very small amount.


Similarly, equal billing, you have put in evidence a comment to the effect that equal billing -- or that budget billing plan doesn't cost customers at all?


MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.


MR. ADAMS:  So in that sense, they're very similar.  The cost for the customer of being served under both of these programs is pretty small potatoes, or nothing?


MR. CHARLESON:  I would agree.


MR. ADAMS:  So we've got two programs that bear an uncanny resemblance to each other, except that one difference is that with equal billing, in the normal year, there's no adjustment at all over a ten‑month period.  Occasionally there can be an adjustment in that midst of that ten-month period, but for a typical -- in a typical year, there is no adjustment over an entire ten-month period.  


So equal billing is really, from a customer point of view, it is having a tremendous levelling effect on volatility, risk management.  The impact is buried.


MR. CHARLESON:  Well, I guess I would hesitate to agree fully that -- you know, that the potential for adjustments to the budget billing plan are rare.  As we indicated, there was an adjustment done last year.  I believe there was an adjustment also made this year.


Also, there is a number of other factors that will affect the budget billing plan amount.  Consumption by the customer is a big driver, as well, that can drive that.  If you have a very cold winter, budget billing plan amounts will be adjusted up.  If somebody has a dramatic change in their consumption pattern, say they implement -- put -- install a high efficiency furnace, then their budget billing plant amount may be reduced partway through the year.


So there are a number of different factors that can contribute to the volatility a customer is going to experience in the budget billing plan.  


The other difference that I would see between the two plans is the budget billing plan is something that is available to all customers, direct purchase and system gas customers.  The risk management program is strictly targeted towards reducing volatility for system gas customers.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.


Let me turn to the question of closing this risk management software to rate base.  First of all, who owns the software?


MR. CHARLESON:  It's an Enbridge Gas Distribution asset.


MR. ADAMS:  Right.  The software is currently working?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, it is.


MR. ADAMS:  And is it operating to your expectations?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, it is.


MR. ADAMS:  So it's improving the administration of the risk management program?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, it has definitely improved our confidence in terms of the reliability of the tool, the ability to administer and communicate information more easily between our Toronto and Calgary offices that are involved in the risk management activities, and improved the consistency of the information that we are working from and reliability.


So, yes, I would stress that we have received everything that we expected from the conversion.


MR. ADAMS:  Now, Energy Probe takes the view that risk management is redundantly duplicative of the effects of QRAM, PGVA, and budget billing.  We see their program as risky, wasteful to the utility to undertake and wasteful to the Board to review any further.


If the Board was to agree with us and order the discontinuation of the program, then you've got a software package, $690,000 worth of software, that is not used and useful.


Now, a couple of years ago when your expert Mr. Simard was here from risk advisory, one of the comments he provided was that many utilities are engaged in commodity risk management.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. ADAMS:  A common activity.  Would one of these utilities be a potential customer for this software?  Is there salvage value?


MR. CHARLESON:  I would not see there necessarily being salvage value behind it.  A portion of the software is a commercial tool, so it is something that is sold by its ‑‑ it's something sold commercially by a vendor, and then the other pieces or a lot of the work involved in developing this asset was the integration into some of our own internal systems.  So I would not anticipate there to be much in the way of salvage value.


MR. ADAMS:  That's too bad.


Mr. Charleson, are you aware of any other board or similar agency, comparable to the Ontario Energy Board, that has examined the subject of commodity risk management for system gas customers as thoroughly as this Board has over the past several years?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. IRANI:  I do believe the only one that we could refer to would be the recent Terasen decision that was made.  I do believe that it came through last year.


MR. ADAMS:  The reason I am asking is, in previous years, the company has argued that no board similar to this one has ever cancelled a risk management program that has been in operation.   


So I was just interested to know who else has compared -- who studied this question in so much detail.  Because this Board is -- you know, you have presented evidence.  We presented evidence.  They've had a thorough opportunity.  


MR. CHARLESON:  I think as Mr. Irani indicated, we are aware that in BC there's been a review of it.  


However, again, I would agree that this topic has definitely had a thorough examination by this Board on several occasions.  The most recent being a thorough review of Union Gas's program, and where the Board decided that the program should continue.  


MR. ADAMS:  Thank you.  Those are my questions. 


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Adams.  Who is next?  


MR. MILLAR:  If there is no one else, Mr. Chair, I have a couple of questions.  I see Ms. DeMarco giving a look but I guess she is not going to avail herself of the opportunity.  Okay, thank you.  


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MILLAR:


MR. MILLAR:  Good afternoon, panel.  Many of the questions I had planned to ask have in fact already been asked, so I will have greatly reduced my cross and I will try not to be repetitive.  If I see I am getting the same answers on questions, I will call it off.  And I hope not to jump around too much either.  


But I would like to begin by -- Mr. Adams started us off by reading from the Board's previous decision, and I think you agreed with him that what the Board was looking for was some indication that price volatility had been reduced for customers rather than the company.  Would you agree with that? 


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, we would. 


MR. MILLAR:  I guess the measure of that, would you agree with me the prices that the customer experienced are found on their bill; is that fair to say? 


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.  


MR. MILLAR:  Can you give me an indication of what percentage of a typical bill would be commodity for residential customer?  Is it something around half, a little bit less than that? 


MR. CHARLESON:  Currently commodity if I recall correctly is getting closer to about 70 percent of the bill is commodity.  


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  Prices have gone up. 


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  


MR. MILLAR:  If we can look at Exhibit K2.1, this is your exhibit.  Just a point of clarification.  You note in that table the PGVA reference price and then you note it without risk management.  


Just for clarification, the reference price is not the price that ends up on the customer's bill; is that correct?  


MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.  We've used the PGVA reference price though as the best proxy for what ends up on the bill.  It is the significant contributing factor to when we develop the QRAM commodity price, but there are other elements that get factored in, and it is just trying to determine and calculate those on a with- and without-risk management basis, would it be problematic?  So this was the best proxy that we had available to us.  And is a fairly accurate representation of the variability in the commodity price that they would see.  


MR. MILLAR:  Just for the sake of clarity, I guess the way the reference price gets to the customer's ultimate price is you take the reference price and then you apply either the credit or the debit from the variance account; is that correct?  


MR. CHARLESON:  Well, in the case of Enbridge Gas Distribution, the clearing of the PGVA is typically done through a separate rate rider, which would be independent of this.  But you would take the PGVA reference price and then there are other costs that are allocated to system gas that have to get layered on to that, the PGVA reference price to arrive at the final commodity cost.  


MR. MILLAR:  Just to make sure I am clear, the PGVA credit or debit does flow through to the customer -- 


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, it does, but just -- other than it doesn't show as the commodity line on the -- well it is a separated outline.  I guess within the commodity portion there's the commodity cost and then there is the rider.  


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you for that.  Would you agree with me that a consumer, a residential consumer, small-volume consumer sees four commodity prices throughout the year?  The four QRAM prices?  


MR. CHARLESON:  For system gas customer, yes. 


MR. MILLAR:  For system gas, yes, thank you.  Would you agree with me if we are looking at the volatility that a typical customer would see on their bill, the test would be the amount by which risk management pro -- the risk management program reduces the volatility to those four prices?  


MR. CHARLESON:  I would say the amount that it reduces the change in those four prices. 


MR. MILLAR:  That's what I mean by volatility. 


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes. 


MR. MILLAR:  If we can agree that means the same thing.  


Is there anywhere in the evidence, either in Mr. Adams' evidence or the company's evidence -- I couldn't find a single chart that actually showed those figures, that showed what the QRAM, the quarterly QRAM price was, with risk management and without risk management and what the variants would be there.  Is that anywhere in the evidence?  


MR. CHARLESON:  Well again because we are using the PGVA reference price as the proxy for that, page 1 of the table on page 1 of Exhibit K2.1 is intended to show that.  Because what we've got is, you see the extent of the price change with and without risk management, quarter over quarter, that then shows the difference between those and the percentage arising from that.  


MR. MILLAR:  Is there a reason that we can't do the same chart showing the actual price as it flows through to the customer?  


MR. CHARLESON:  Again the difficulty is in terms of replicating the QRAM process or the QRAM process for the commodity piece without risk management on historical basis.


We looked at our ability to do that, but because of the number of variables that are involved and when you strip out some the risk management things it makes it very difficult to give an accurate representation.  That is why we have relied on the PGVA reference price as the best proxy.  


MR. MILLAR:  Can you put in the impact of the PGVA credits or debits?  Would that be a simple thing to do?  


MR. CHARLESON:  Again, it is difficult to say how those would look with and without risk management.  We could put in what the absolute one was in each quarter, but to see what the credit would have looked like without risk management, like how the rider would have looked without risk management, would be quite difficult to do. 


MR. MILLAR:  So you don't think it would be helpful -- 


MR. CHARLESON:  I don't believe it would be. 


MR. MILLAR:  You're saying either you can't produce the table I was looking for, or it would be too difficult. 


MR. CHARLESON:  It would be difficult and I think the accuracy and the relevance of it would become questionable.  


MR. MILLAR:  Because it's kind of an art as much of a science?  Pulling out those -- 


MR. CHARLESON:  Especially going back, trying to do it looking back a number of years, yes.  


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  


I would like to move on to -- I guess I will be referring to a couple of documents that Mr. Adams has reproduced in K2.4.  


I am going to be looking at page 37 and then page 50.  I just want to make sure I understand if these tables are related to one another or how.  If we look on table 2 on page 37, I will give you a second to pull it up.  


MR. CHARLESON:  I have it.  


MR. MILLAR:  This shows one of the rows or the columns I can never remember which is which, it shows the cost of the risk management program either in gains or in losses and it ranges from a 2002 there was a $40 million loss then it goes up and down and up and down, and in 2006 it was the $110 million loss.  


If you just flip ahead to page 50, there's a chart showing the bill impact of risk management and I see, for example, on that chart for 2006 it shows a bill impact of 4.74.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, it does.  I guess the one thing that I want to make clear with this table is, that is showing what the annual impact on the bill is.  What it doesn't show is the volatility that may have occurred throughout the year.  So while it may show $4.74 impact on an annualized basis, the price may have gone up or down several times -- like at each of QRAMs the price is going to have changed.  It is just when you accumulate it on an annual basis that is the final impact. 


MR. MILLAR:  Yes I do understand that.  I know this isn't showing volatility. 


MR. CHARLESON:  I just wanted to make that clear for all parties. 


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.  Just looking at these two charts again if we take the $110 million from table 2 on page 37, and we see the bill impact of $4.74.  Is that just taking the $110 million and spreading it out amongst all of the customers?  Is that the relationship -- is the relationship between those two numbers?  


MR. CHARLESON:  There is a relationship but it is not as simplistic as that.  What we did was looked at the -- we took our forecast consumption where we break it down on a monthly basis and then applied the PGVA reference price to each of the -- for each of the quarters so that way it got weighted based on the PGVA reference price by the consumption within a quarter, to arrive at the total bill impact. 


MR. MILLAR:  So there is a correlation –- 


MR. CHARLESON:  There is a correlation, but it's not perfect.  


MR. MILLAR:  Because I notice for 2002, for example, you show a modest – well, modest loss at least compared to 2006 but there the bill impact was actually higher than 2006.  Can you help me with that?


MR. CHARLESON:  Again, some of that can have to do with the timing of when certain factors came into play.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Charleson, just a couple of questions in one area, and that is:  What is the issue before us, before this Panel?


I take it the issue is volatility, and the decision that has to be made by this Panel is whether the program should continue, or not, on the basis of that evidence.


At the same time, there was some evidence, some discussion, about the financial benefits or detriments, if you like, or costs that could be had by exercising that program on the commodity side of things.  I heard the figure of $110 million for the test year.


MR. CHARLESON:  Well, in the past year, the financial impacts of the risk management activities were that it led to, say, $110 million in additional commodity costs, because the hedges were out of the money in 2006.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  And there was some reference, I'm not sure whether it was in yours or Mr. Adams -- probably Mr. Adams' evidence, something like you cannot bid the market.  Do you know what he had in mind?


MR. CHARLESON:  Well, that is actually something that we have stated in prior proceedings.  Again, the objective of the risk management program is to reduce volatility, not to lower prices.  If the objective of ‑‑ and a number of years ago when the program first came out, one of the objectives at that time was to try to lower prices for consumers.  


However, it was recognized that you can't always ‑‑ you can't count on beating the market all the time, so that is where that came from, and that really the objective of the program should be focussed on reducing volatility and not lowering prices because, again, as Mr. Adams has indicated, over the longer time horizon -- and this was I think the evidence of Mr. Simard when he and before the Board, that over the longer time horizon, you would expect the impacts of risk management to be cost neutral.  


It is just a matter of what that time horizon looks like.  It may be five years, ten years, but, in essence, you won't consistently beat the market.  And, at the end of the day, you would come out cost neutral.


So that is why the focus is on reducing volatility.


MR. VLAHOS:  How long has this program been in operation, sir?


MR. CHARLESON:  It began in 1996.


MR. VLAHOS:  And for the test year and going forward, what kind of costs are we looking at?  I understand there is the capital cost associated with the program of $900 ‑‑ it is less than $900,000.  You start at $900,000, but it has come down.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  The final cost associated ‑‑ that were recorded in the deferral account was, like, $691,000.  So there would be the closing of that amount to rate base, and so the impacts of that, and then there is the operating and maintenance costs that are associated with risk management, which I believe...


Just give us a minute.  I believe they're approximately $170,000, but we can get you more accurate number, if you would like.


MR. VLAHOS:  That's fine.  I do recall that number in the evidence.  So the ongoing costs would be the carrying costs associated with the $691,000, because they are going to be closed in rate base, plus the O&M, about $170,000.


MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  Do you think, sir, that an exercise in trying to capture volatility or to control volatility, if you like, can be studied in isolation or the financial impact on the commodity price because of the way the program would operate?  Do you see what I'm saying?


MR. CHARLESON:  Perhaps you could try again.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  I am getting to the $110 million.  I know it is one year.  Other years, it may be exactly the opposite.  It may be of the same magnitude.  


But your thesis or the thesis of the company through, I guess, the last few years, Mr. Simard had mentioned, is in the long run there will be zero sum game?


MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  And that evidence was not disputed.  There is a zero-zero sum game, that you can't beat the market, but in the long run you can be at the market?


MR. CHARLESON:  I don't recall anybody disputing that.


MR. VLAHOS:  A lot of people, the market beats them all the time.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  And then there is a lot of people that seem to win a lot.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right, okay.  But is the evidence before now sort of isolated from the financial impact on the commodity price of this risk management program?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  Really, the focus of this is there are these costs, $170,000 plus the carrying costs on that rate base, are costs that the company is spending in putting forward to manage the volatility in the prices that customers experience, and, based on the customer survey that we conducted regarding risk management, it was an activity that customers have indicated they are interested in and would like the company to be doing.  


So we believe it is -- again, getting back to one of the opening points, we're a customer-service-based-type organization, and this is something customers are looking for us to do, and that is why we believe it is a reasonable activity to undertake.


MR. VLAHOS:  The way it would operate, then, has the company taken a position on the commodity price of gas?  Is this how it works?


MR. CHARLESON:  We take out financial instruments.  So we will acquire the physical commodity, and then there's a few different financial instruments that we will take.  We will do some collars, some caps, and then some swaps to lock in the price.  So depending on market conditions, the program -- the tools we use will make a recommendation, in terms of the mix of hedge instruments that we should be using to manage that volatility, but it is all with financial instruments.


MR. VLAHOS:  Sir, if this Panel were inclined to say, No more - and don't read anything into this, this is hypothetical - then is it a concern, in your view, about the different treatment between Enbridge and Union?


MR. CHARLESON:  I think it would be ‑‑ whether it would be a concern to us in terms of the different treatment, I believe there's a number of things where the two companies may be treated differently.  There's different factors that come into play.  However, I think it would be of some concern, in terms of the Board having different views in terms of whether volatility -- which customers should have their volatility -- within Ontario should have their volatility managed.  


But, again, you know, the Board may have its reasons why it views it being reasonable for there to be a different outcome between the two utilities, and, you know, we would live with whatever that outcome was.


MR. VLAHOS:  Certainly I guess the difference would not be in the way that the model would operate, really, is it?


MR. CHARLESON:  There is already some differences between the way that our risk management model operates from the way that Union's operates.


MR. VLAHOS:  It is mostly the principle.


MR. CHARLESON:  The principle, yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  So if there are some doubts in this Panel's mind and rather go to the other side and say, You shall have no responsive program because, you know, Union has one, then would it be reasonable for this Panel to consider perhaps a forum to discuss these matters with the two companies?  Would that be an appropriate way to go?


MR. CHARLESON:  With the view to that being towards landing on a consistency between the two methods of doing risk management, or just whether there should be a reconsideration of Union's ‑‑


MR. VLAHOS:  I guess consideration of the principle, and then we can look at the mechanics in that forum, as well, to the extent there would be a risk management program.


Now, you mentioned that you doubted that -- there is a QRAM process which somebody took you through, but you doubted that would be the appropriate forum or you did not think that the forum called for that kind of an exercise?


MR. CHARLESON:  The focus -- again, looking at the Natural Gas Forum report, the focus of that report was on the cost allocation principles for system gas, the standardization of the QRAM methodology, which is more how the market signals and how all of the different price components are rolled in, and then also just be load balancing issues around, between system gas and direct purchase.  So those were the three focal points.  

     It is always at the Board's discretion to expand the scope of what it believes should be addressed within such a proceeding.  The only -- I guess the concern that I would have is, this issue keeps -- is -- was canvassed quite extensively within Union's case, we are canvassing it within this proceeding, and are we just going to be treading over the same ground again.  Obviously it is within the Board's discretion, and if that was the direction it was taking we would obviously participate.  But it is just the number of times it gets visited.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  But it is an issue on the table and you have agreed to this issue being on the table.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  Fine.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman, those are my questions. 

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Charleson, just following up on that, if I could.  When Mr. Adams was -- referred you to page 11 of his, I guess it is your written argument, your argument-in-chief in the Enbridge case, and he quoted the statement I think that was made there:  

“Moreover while this is not the goal of the company's risk management program in the years 1996 to 2004, the overall reduction in gas purchase costs as a result of the program which is directly passed on to customers was $59 million.”  
     Then we go to page 37 that various people have referred to and in that period, 2002 to 2006, it is negative $107 million.  

     I take it that is just because there is different time 

frames. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  Because you have got about six more years prior to 2002 that are factored in.  

     MR. KAISER:  Right.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Plus you have some time after.  

     MR. KAISER:  One of the concerns that is obviously in the minds of the intervenors is that one of the by-products of this whole exercise, which admittedly the main purpose is to reduce volatility, is you can bet wrong and, as you say, you can be in the money or out of the money.  In one period you're in the money to the extent of six million and in the most recent period, you're out to the extent of 100 million over the entire period.

     Two questions arising from that.  In this Union program that the Board apparently approved, they would have the same side effects, they could be in the money and out of the money.  Have they done better than you?  

     MR. CHARLESON:  I am not aware of all of their final 

numbers.  I believe, in one of the exhibits, that was provided this morning I think in K2.3, Union has provided some of their -- kind of their mark to market information and they do seem to have had -- not necessarily a better performance but a little less dramatic swings, at least at the time that this evidence was prepared.  The one variable there is we don't know what the outcome of the 2006 program was which was the year we had $110 million negative mark to market.  

     MR. KAISER:  It seems to me one of the concerns is that a natural consequence of these programs and buying these financial instruments and buying gas future issues suddenly have a warmer than usual winter which we did last year, and bingo, your forecast is wrong and you're out $110 million.  That is going to happen on both sides.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  

     MR. KAISER:  You said and others have said that over time, the cost of gas is the cost of gas and the customer is going to pay the cost of gas. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.  

     MR. KAISER:  Unless you keep betting on it in which case you may pay more than the cost of gas.  Depending where you come out.  If the object is just to smooth, why can't you just have a smoothing program over two years instead of a year?  Or a longer period of time?  

     MR. CHARLESON:  In terms of the structure of the risk 

management program?  

     MR. KAISER:  Well, you have this equal billing which is basically saying:  I am not going to whack you in January.  I am going to push some of it into August or whatever.  You smoothed it over months.  Why can't you smooth it over a couple of years and avoid this betting problem?  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Again, in terms of the – well, say in the case of the budget billing where it is smoothed over the year, again, if we find that weather came out wrong so we kind of -- in essence, you are betting when you set the budget billing plan amount that the, this year is going to come out about the same as the previous year for the customer and so we set a budget billing amount.  

     If the weather is warmer or colder, prices are higher or lower, they change something, we adjust that during the course of the year, because we don't want to hit them at the end with a large sum.  Similarly, if you spread that over two years you would still look to make those adjustments during the process.  

     From a commodity perspective, again we could look at doing our risk management program over a two-year time horizon.  That is the time horizon that Union looks at.  We look at a rolling 12 month.  They have a rolling 24-month window.  It still leaves you in the situation where you are - to use your term - betting on what is going to happen with the commodity price and you are ultimately going to recover that.  

     As long as you are putting any type of hedge instrument out there, the time horizon isn't going to change the potential for it to be in the money or out of the money.  You could smooth it to the extent, I guess, by spreading the, say any variance in the PGVA being collected over a longer period of time, so there may be tools to try to smooth it that way.  But I guess the fundamental still comes back to:  Is it wise to do the initial hedges?  Is that in the best interests of customers?  Is that what customers are looking for us to do?  

     MR. KAISER:  Well, I mean, that is the question.  

Understandably you bet last year and the weather turned out to be better than normal, and because you are on the wrong side on the hedges, you've got $110 million which is a cost a gas consumer has which he wouldn't have had if you just passed on the actual costs. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  That’s correct. 

     MR. KAISER:  Of course in other years it could be the 

reverse.  If you said, well, we're going to build quantities closer to our normal.  We have a five-year forecast and we will adjust it, and so on, so forth, in the end the customer is going to pay the cost of gas but it is almost by this betting you could be creating bigger problems because that 110 million is going to have to be recovered; right? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct. 

     MR. KAISER:  That's a customer cost. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that is being rolled in as we did our QRAMs.  The recovery of that has been factored into that, and you're right, that translates into about just over a 5 percent incremental cost to the total cost of the commodity for 2006.  

     I suppose there is a number of different mechanisms that might be able to be looked at in terms of how things could be smoothed.  It's not something we have say, examined or -- 

     MR. KAISER:  Then one final question.  I know Mr. Quesnelle has one for you.  Given that you are playing the market - I don't mean that term in a derogatory sense but you are doing what lots of people do, industrial customers do it every day, they try to hedge their quantities - is it getting more difficult in this market to forecast prices?  

     MR. CHARLESON:  I would say, yes.  What we are seeing is, there's a lot more volatility than has been experienced in the past.  At times the market seems to respond the opposite direction from where you would expect based on some of the market fundamentals.  

     You know at times where you would have expected to see a price drop occur because of some market fundamentals, it's going up because people are maybe speculating that this is a temporary, so they're starting to drive it.  

     I would say over the past few years while I've been in my current role, the -- there's numerous occasions where you just kind of shake your head in terms of, well, what's causing the price to do that?  It just doesn't seem to be underpinned by fundamentals.  So I think that is a challenge that we face.  

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Chairman, may I just follow up.  So the hypothesis that the long run is a wash is based on the assumption of a cyclicality of the commodity, that over time, it will gravitate towards zero, if you like, or...

     MR. CHARLESON:  I think it is more that because you are not going to beat the market all the time, that in the long run things will balance out.  You're going to win some, lose some until it -- at the end of the day you would expect it to balance out.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  I guess that assumes that there is no trend on the price up or down in the long run.  That assumes that the trend is only short term, and in the 

Long term it will gravitate towards an average of some kind. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Well, I think you could still have a trend towards the price moving up.  It is more just the, how it cycles up and done on that upward trend.  Because again, it is where your hedge points are and whether you have locked in higher or lower.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  So if it is trending up, then you are always going to be ahead, you are going to be beating the market in the short run and the long time.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Well, again, it depends on how you define that trend.  If you look at it say on an annual basis between the two points in time the price has moved up, but within the year it was higher, then lower, and higher, then lower.  Like, how it waved on that trend line, depending on what you locked in at, like, you might have -- it is trending up, but you may have hedged in at a higher price and for a time period when the cycle turned, where that wave comes down, so even though it is trending up, you still locked in higher than when you got your physical.


There's -- I guess it is difficult for me to articulate verbally, but, you know, looking at a graph where you would kind of hedge in where the price may come, you could still be on that trend line and still be losing.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  I guess conceptually the problem that I have is seeing that it is actual -- that it is a zero sum game, and it may not be, depending on how the trend looks like, whether it is up or down, in the longer term.  By longer, I don't know, take 20 years.  So you see where I am coming from?


MR. CHARLESON:  I do see where you are coming from with it, but, again, the ‑‑ and I am relying on the input that we have had from risk advisory and -- you know, and discussions that I have had with Mr. Simard since he appeared here as a witness, and where we are seeing market conditions where there may have been more of a trending up, he still indicated that, yes, risk management is a zero sum game on the longer-term horizon.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Just picking up on that element of it, a zero sum game assumes that you are going to land on a smooth commodity magic, but we will obviously have the operation of the program over and above that.  Otherwise, you are suggesting you have beat the market to the same amount that it costs to run the program; right?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  So we will always have the cost to run the program.  So I'm looking at what we would look at if there is an agreement that it should continue.  The performance, I suppose, of the company in creating this benefit would be the cost of the program and, also, the fleshing out of that notion that it is a zero sum game.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  It's the tools that just weren't working, and we are going to have either wild swings or be consistently wrong, so there's the two areas.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  And I think, you know, my view, you know, if the ‑‑ you are right.  If the Board is looking at, Okay, it is a zero sum game on the commodity piece, is the $170,000 a year, in terms of administering things, and the cost of capital on the system side, of where the expenditure in terms of managing the volatility -- you know, does the Board agree that that is something that provides value to the customer and is it value that equates to $170,000 a year or say $180,000 by the time you work in the cost of capital, which gets down to fractions of a penny on a per-customer basis.


Is there the value in that?


MR. QUESNELLE:  Right.  So when we are looking at that value proposition, and because the numbers are relatively low when we get down to the unit basis, we are dealing with a policy issue here?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  To that extent, and trying to understand where the customers are coming from in this, what was the ‑‑ you mentioned that the customers were prepared to take on more volatility.  What is the counter to that?  Like, why would they be prepared?  How was that articulated to them?  Was there a cost balancing point to that?


MR. CHARLESON:  Well, the way that this was done in the survey, we put a number of different price points to customers in terms of, you know, Would you be willing to accept an annual price change of $25 in your gas bill, $50, $75, $100? 


What we looked at was at the point at which you still had more than 50 percent of the customers saying they would be willing to accept that degree of change within their annual gas bill, and in the case of the survey we conducted, $75 was the last price point that had greater than 50 percent support.


MR. QUESNELLE:  And what was in their mind is what the option was?


MR. CHARLESON:  The -- I guess the options that they had was more, Are you willing to run the risk that your bills could swing by a greater amount, but not so much what it may cost them to get that, or what tools would ‑‑ kind of what tools that you used to do that.


MR. QUESNELLE:  So just what you are trying to read in a survey like that, is there a discomfort level, or what is the taking-off point that they would do something else, or was there another option?


MR. CHARLESON:  It is not so much another option.  Again, I think it is more the comfort level would be the driver behind it.  It is very tricky doing a survey on risk management.  We tried to really simplify it and work with Ipsos‑Reid to get it into some terminology that customers could reasonably respond to. 


So, yes, it is really the comfort level and where would they start to...

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Get really mad?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  Drive up our call centre costs,


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you.


MR. KAISER:  One question I had earlier on was whether the betting costs, i.e., the $110 million, contributed to volatility over and above the volatility that would be there if you didn't do anything.  I take it the answer to that is no, because your figures seem to suggest that throughout the period, even though in ‑‑ there was some $100 million loss through 2002 to 2006, the program did reduce volatility.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  When you look at the PGVA reference prices that we have provided, those do have those costs rolled in to the risk management piece.  So, in essence, that is embedded in the reduced volatility.  


So even with that cost, you still had the volatility reduction.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. O'Leary, did you have any ‑‑ I'm sorry, Mr. Adams.


MR. ADAMS:  Mr. Chairman, I wonder, since we have had so many discussions about this survey and it is in evidence from a previous case, but people might not have easy access to it, just for the purposes of reference if people ‑‑ since it's been a matter of some discussion, I wonder if we could ask that it be filed in this case.


MR. KAISER:  Any objection to that, Mr. O'Leary?


MR. O'LEARY:  Well, Mr. Chair, the ‑‑ if the survey was going to be the subject of examination, ultimately argument, I would have thought that Mr. Adams would have at least sent it to us and asked the witnesses to review it to familiarize themselves with the history of it, and then it would have been here for all of the panel and the other parties to review, and then it would properly be the subject of argument.  


Here we are now at the end of this panel and Mr. Adams is asking to file a document that presumably he is going to make argument about and perhaps cross‑examination of him or evidence-in‑chief, but it is a little bit unfair, because this panel may have wanted to say something in addition if it had been give notice that that was going to be an issue.


MR. KAISER:  How do you want to use this document if it is produced?  Did you want to put questions to the witnesses on it?


MR. ADAMS:  No, not at all.  It was an exchange between Mr. Quesnelle and the panel about what was in the document.  Some of the answers were not consistent with my recollection of the document.  So I was simply going to compare the answers that we got just now against that, against the master document itself.  That was our intention.  


I thought it would be convenient for the parties to have copies of the thing.


MR. KAISER:  I think that is Mr. O'Leary's problem.  If now you are going to suggest that the witnesses' answers today are at variance with earlier answers, then he of course wants an opportunity to make sure that that is addressed here as opposed to just in argument.


MS. DeMARCO:  Mr. Chair, maybe I could be of assistance.  I understood the witness panel to make reference to a survey that is not before anyone else in the room, so it was at my urging that Mr. Adams requested that the document be filed so that all parties can be dealing from the same set of facts that are currently not before the Board in a filed format.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Well, that seems reasonable.  Why don't we leave it on this basis, Mr. O'Leary, if it is acceptable to you?  You produce the document.  If you want to deal with it ‑‑ I guess if you really have questions -- and I guess to be fair, you are indicating that you do.  


You have said that you think that some of the answers today are not consistent with your understanding of the document.  So rather than just leave this to argument, I think the fair thing to do would be to come forward with those questions, given that these witnesses have raised the document, and we will deal with it, assuming they can come back at some time that is convenient to you.  


Is that possible, Mr. O'Leary?


MR. O'LEARY:  Subject to the availability of the witnesses, that is acceptable, sir.  If I could only ask that if Mr. Adams is going to make assertions about inconsistency between the survey and what these witnesses have said, that he do so before he appears in‑chief so that we would have that opportunity to perhaps raise it with him in cross‑examination.


MR. KAISER:  Is that acceptable, Mr. Adams?


MR. ADAMS:  Absolutely.


MR. KAISER:  Let's proceed on that basis.


MR. O'LEARY:  Sir, the availability issue is in respect of Mr. Charleson, who, as you may know, has been promoted and is now taking over a senior position with New Brunswick Gas.  So ‑‑ 


MR. CHARLESON:  Around this week and I am around the third week of February.  Otherwise you know if we can schedule -- lock in a time, I can make travel arrangements to be here, if necessary.  


MR. KAISER:  We will make sure we have a date that is convenient to you.


Okay.  Do you want to reserve a number for that, Mr. Millar, the survey?  


MR. MILLAR:  Is that an undertaking or an exhibit?  I guess we will give it an exhibit number right now. 


MR. KAISER:  Both I suppose. 


MR. MILLAR:  The exhibit is K2.5.  Is it the survey questionnaire or  -- what is the document?  


MR. CHARLESON:  I would refer to it as the Enbridge customer survey on risk management.  


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  

EXHIBIT NO. K2.5:  ENBRIDGE CUSTOMER SURVEY ON RISK MANAGEMENT

MR. KAISER:  Did you have any re-examine, Mr. O'Leary? 


RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. O’LEARY: 


MR. O'LEARY:  I did have one question, sir.  I think it would be helpful if I asked everyone to turn to two documents.  One is page 37 of the materials Mr. Adams filed, which is the table number 2 and that is Exhibit K2.4.  And Exhibit K2.3, the third page of that.  It goes to your question, Mr. Chair, about the comparison of the impact of the risk management operations, both of Union and Enbridge.  


If I could ask Mr. Charleson to look at the results for Enbridge, which are found at page 37, table 2 and compare that to the Union mark to market results.  Am I correct in interpreting this, that there is a 40.8 deficit in 2002 for Enbridge and $19.9 million deficit for Union in that year?  


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.  


MR. O'LEARY:  Could you describe or compare the activities and the results of those activities for the two utilities over the subsequent years.  


MR. CHARLESON:  If we look at 2003 for Enbridge, it was a gain of 23.4 million.  For Union, it was a gain of 30.4 million.  


2004, it was a loss of 4.3 million for Enbridge and a loss of 1.9 for Union.  


Then in 2005, again, it was a gain of 19 million for Enbridge and a loss -- and a gain of 9.9 million for Union.  So I think what we are generally seeing is comparability in terms of the direction of the hedge outcomes.  It is just the extent varies a bit.  


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Could I ask you to comment, to the extent you think you are capable of doing so, with your knowledge of market conditions since the Union decision.  Do you have any comment as to what you would expect their 2006 results would be?  


MR. CHARLESON:  I would have expected their 2006 results to reflect a loss.  I'm just not sure in terms of the order of magnitude.  


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Those are our questions, sir.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  


What's next, Mr. Millar?  


MR. MILLAR:  I am not sure.  The next scheduled panel, Mr. O'Leary can remind me, it is the -- I'm not sure.  Mr. O'Leary, are you ready to go with the next panel?  


MR. O'LEARY:  Well, it is cost allocation I am just looking to see if all of the panel members have arrived. 


MR. MILLAR:  Maybe we should take our afternoon recess. 


MR. KAISER:  We will take the afternoon break at this point.  Mr. Shepherd. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, the cost allocation panel is going to be relying on direct evidence that was provided to us this weekend.  It is a spreadsheet.  


I, for one, have not had a chance to go through it thoroughly.  I have just actually this morning been trying to analyze the numbers.  I know my friends may also have similar concerns.  


So we would beg your indulgence to start this panel tomorrow morning. 


MR. KAISER:  Why don't we just do the direct this afternoon, that gives you even more heads-up. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  That would be wonderful.  Thank you.  


MR. KAISER:  We will be back in 15 minutes, Mr. O'Leary.  


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  


--- Recess taken at 2:20 p.m. 
‑‑‑ Upon resuming at 2:40 p.m. 


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Stevens. 


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  The panel this afternoon is here to speak to the unsettled portions of issue 6.2.  I thought just to introduce the topic, I would turn to page 38 of the settlement proposal, Exhibit N1, tab 1, schedule 1.


On page 38, there is a short, if I might call it, scoping statement delineating what the outstanding issue is that this panel is addressing.  I will just read it so that everybody is on the same page:

"There is no agreement about the company's proposal to allocate revenue requirement between customer classes.  Some parties are concerned that the allocation of the 2007 revenue deficiency as proposed in the company's evidence results in the collection of revenues greater than allocated costs from Rate 1 and Rate 6 customers based on the company's filed revenue-to-cost ratios of 1.02 and 1.01 for these rate classes.  These parties wish to explore the proposed 2007 revenue requirement allocation in light of the evidence and interrogatory responses on the issue.  Other parties support the company's revenue deficiency allocation and will oppose changes to it." 


The witness panel for this issue is Jackie Collier, who is the manager of rate design, and Anton Kacicnik, who is the manager of cost allocation, and I don't believe either of them have been sworn yet.


ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 2


Anton Kacicnik; Sworn.


Jackie Collier; Sworn.

EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MR. STEVENS:

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  I don't believe there is any specific narrative prefiled evidence for the panel to adopt, but there is one document which we circulated over the weekend that Mr. Shepherd alluded to that we hope will be helpful for all parties in the examination of this issue.


It is a spreadsheet, two pages long, titled "Analysis of Revenue to Cost Ratios For Rate 1 and Analysis of Revenue to Cost Ratios for rate 6."  We would ask that it be entered as an exhibit.


MR. MILLAR:  That is Exhibit K2.6, Mr. Chair.

EXHIBIT NO. K2.6:  SPREADSHEET TITLED "ANALYSIS OF REVENUE TO COST RATIOS FOR RATE 1 AND ANALYSIS OF REVENUE TO COST RATIOS FOR RATE 6."

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. STEVENS:  Just to step back from this, Ms. Collier, can you begin by explaining what revenue-to-cost ratios are and what they show?


MS. COLLIER:  Certainly.  What the revenue-to-cost ratio compares is the recovery of revenues from the rate design process relative to the allocation of the cost from the cost allocation process.  And if a revenue-to-cost ratio is equal to 1 for a rate class, then it is said that that rate class is recovering its allocated costs.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Mr. Kacicnik, could you then explain the purpose of the cost allocation study in this context?


MR. KACICNIK:  The cost allocation study allocates the test year revenue requirement to the customer rate classes, based on the conventions and principles that underpin the study.  The results of the study represent the forecast costs to serve the various customer rate classes and act as a guide to rate design.


MR. STEVENS:  Ms. Collier, from the company's perspective and from a rate-making perspective, when the company is setting rates or revenue-to-cost ratios, what is it trying to accomplish?


MS. COLLIER:  The goal that we are trying to accomplish each year, as we set our revenue-to-cost ratios, is to maintain a revenue-to-cost ratio close to 1.  This goal each year must be balanced by different rate design objectives that we have, such as rate stability, rate impacts on all rate classes, as well as market conditions.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Now, turning to Exhibit K2.6, which we handed out, and looking at the first page, can you please explain what this document shows in the first ‑‑ from column 1 to column 5, in terms of revenue-to-cost ratios?


MS. COLLIER:  Yes.  The intent of this document is to show the historical revenue-to-cost ratios for the rate 1 residential class.  So in column number 2, under the title of "Revenues", what's depicted there is the forecast level of revenue for rate 1 for each of the test years, and those revenues are based on the Board order for each of those years or based on the Board's decision, except for the years of 2007, which in the second last line it's based on our original filing, reflecting a deficiency of $167 million, and then in the very last line for 2007 it is based on the settlement proposal.


Column number 3, then, shows the level of allocated costs for each of those test years, and that is based on the results of the fully allocated cost study.  


What you see in column number 4, then, is a dollar amount of either over- or under-contribution of what that rate 1 class is paying of its revenues relative to its costs.  So in year 1, you will see that it has an under-contribution of approximately 5.7 million, which then in column 5 yields a revenue-to-cost ratio of 0.99.  


So in each of the years from 2001 to 2007, we've shown the level of revenues, the level of costs and the over/under-contribution, and then the resulting revenue-to-cost ratio reached in those years.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Then, Mr. Kacicnik, in column 6, 7 and 8, there is an adjustment to the revenue-to-cost ratios based on what's called a phase-in adjustment.  Can you explain what those columns are intended to show?


MR. KACICNIK:  Well, the response to this question requires a little bit of background, and I will try to summarize it in as few sentences as possible.


As you may recall, in the 2005 rate case proceeding, the company proposed to allocate transportation costs based on a volumetric basis rather than existing peak demand annual demand methodology.


This change moved costs away from rate 1 and rate 6 rate classes over to large-volume customers, but at the same time, large-volume customers were facing a substantial rate increase.  


To address this issue, the stakeholders and the company agreed to phase in the impact over a four-year period starting in October 2004 and ending in October 2007.


If I may direct your attention back to the Exhibit K2.6, page 1, and I will start with column 6.  By the way, the company produced this chart to show what revenue-to-cost ratio would have been if the phase-in has been fully implemented.


So column 6 shows the amount that rate 1 continues to pay due to the phase-in.  For example, if you look at the very last line, titled ADR at $26 million, rate 1 continues to pay $5 million more due to the phase‑in.


Column 7 then backs out the amount of phase‑in, and you can derive to the numbers by adding column 4 and column 6.  So for the very last line, that would be 10.4 million minus 5 million, and we arrive to 5.34 million.


Column 8 restates revenue-to-cost ratio, and they are shown as if the phase-in has been fully implemented on October 1st, 2007, and you can see that the trend in revenue-to-cost ratio is towards 1 for both rate 1 and rate 6 customer classes.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Now, Ms. Collier, turning to the last two rows of the first page of this exhibit, what do they show in terms of 2007?


MS. COLLIER:  The first line under 2007, as filed, reflects the company's original filing where, again, we were requesting a revenue deficiency of $167 million.


There you can see the revenue-to-cost ratio for rate 1 was set at 1.02, and that is depicted in column 5.  As a result of the settlement agreement, the revenue deficiency is approximately $26 million, and that is shown in the last line there under 2007.  And we have now adjusted the revenue-to- cost ratio for rate down to 1.01, and that is what is depicted in those last two lines.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Then turning over the page to the second page of this exhibit, which addresses rate 6, what does this document show?


MS. COLLIER:  This document is virtually identical to the document number 1, except that it depicts the revenue-to-cost ratios historically for the 6 rate class.  The reason that we showed this as well is, first, that rate 6, like rate 1 is continuing to subsidize the phase-in adjustment over the four year period.  Secondly, that the trend for the revenue-to-cost ratios for rate 6, if you look in column 8 is to move it towards 1 for the test year.  So that is the intent of the document for rate 6.  


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Finally, then, turning to appendix B to the settlement proposal.  


MS. COLLIER:  Yes.  


MR. STEVENS:  These are two documents that set out the approximate rate impact based on recovery of $26 million and $82 million.  


MS. COLLIER:  Yes.  


MR. STEVENS:  Can you please explain what will happen in terms of revenue-to-cost ratios for different rate classes depending upon whether the company were to recover an additional $26 million or an additional $82 million.  


MS. COLLIER:  Yes.  Exhibit -- pardon me, appendix B, page 1 depicts the recovery of the revenue deficiency of $26 million, and there in the first two columns you see the revenue-to-cost ratio is for 2007 and 2006.  We have attempted to set the 2007 level at a level similar to 2006.  If you go to page 2 of that exhibit, it depicts the recovery of the revenue deficiency based on $82.1 million, and again, we have tried to set the revenue-to-cost ratio at a level similar to 2006.  


So in each of these examples whether it is a $26 million deficiency or an $82 million deficiency, we have proposed a similar set of revenue-to-cost ratios and that would be our intent based on the outcome of the Board's final decision in this proceeding as well, that we would attempt to set the revenue-to-cost ratio similar to the 2006 level.  That's what that is showing there.  


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Mr. Chair, those are my questions for this panel.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Panel, just so I can prepare for tomorrow's examination by parties.  What do you think the issues are by the intervenors on the basis of this schedule that you have just spoken to?  


MS. COLLIER:  It's our understanding that some intervenors are of the position that the revenue-to-cost ratio for the rate 1 class and their overcontribution is too high, relative to what it's been in previous years.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Is this on the basis of the 1.01 that you depict on the first page of K2.6?  


MS. COLLIER:  When we originally filed the evidence, it was at 1.02, so you see that in the line up above.  That is certainly what any interrogatories were answered on, et cetera.  


When we filed or when we updated our cost allocation and rate design to reflect the settlement agreement and we filed the two -- appendix B that I was just referring to, attached to the settlement agreement, it was stated in there that they have been set down to 1.01.  So I assume it is still an issue because that is why we are here today. 


MR. VLAHOS:  So your assumption is it is the 0.01, the difference that --all right.  But I see on the next page, though, that the revenue-to-cost ratio as stated by yourself, is at 1. 


MS. COLLIER:  Sorry, I didn't hear the last part. 


MR. VLAHOS:  It is at 1.  Even.  For rate 6.  


MS. COLLIER:  For rate 6, that would be -- it would be at 1 if we didn't have the phase in adjustment, because we still are required to phase in the allocation of the TCPL tolls you have to look at column five, and it is in fact a 1.01.  


What we are trying to depict in the last column is if we did not have to do any further phase-in adjustments they, in fact, would have a revenue-to-cost ratio of 1, but we still because we still have, in this instance, a phase- in for 2007, there is still some overcontribution of revenues relative to the costs and that is a function of the phase-in.  


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you.  


MR. KAISER:  Anything further, Mr. Stevens?  


MR. STEVENS:  No, sir.


PROCEDURAL MATTERS:  


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I have just one housekeeping matter that may be appropriate to deal with right now.  I know that the company has solicited some time estimates from the parties regarding how long particular panels would take.  I'm wondering if perhaps Mr. Stevens or Mr. Bourke can give us an update how long this panel is expected to go, when we might get to the degree days panel, and I guess when the following panel would come up, if there is any chance of that happening tomorrow or if it is much more likely to spill over into Thursday.  


MR. STEVENS:  While we have received indications from a number of parties as to how long their cross-examinations will be, we're also waiting on approximations from a number of other parties.  So I don't think we can speak with any certainty at all about how long things will take.  I think it is the company's expectation, however, that this cost allocation issue can be dealt with hopefully in half a day or less so we can then move on to degree days by, I will say at the latest, after the lunch break tomorrow.  On degree days we don't have indications from very many parties yet.  Based on the indications we do have, my expectation is we would be looking at a minimum of a day and a half, and quite likely longer than that.  So we may be running into Friday with degree days.  


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much.  


MR. KAISER:  All right.  We will be back at 9:30 tomorrow morning.  


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:01 p.m.  
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